

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Strategies for Decreasing Employee Turnover in Retail **Organizations**

Mathias Oni-Eseleh Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Entrepreneurial and Small Business Operations Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Mathias Oni-Eseleh

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Kathleen Andrews, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Janet Booker, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. James Savard, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost

Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Strategies for Decreasing Employee Turnover in Retail Organizations

by

Mathias Oni-Eseleh

MS, Walden University, 2012

BA, University of Benin, 1986

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2020

Abstract

High employee turnover in the retail sector affects organizations' financial sustainability across the United States, costing them billions of dollars annually. Because of the high cost of employee turnover, retail sector leaders need to develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover in their organizations. Grounded in job embeddedness theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail sector leaders used to decrease employee turnover. The participants consisted of 5 purposefully selected retail sector leaders in the upstate region of New York, who successfully implemented strategies for decreasing employee turnover in their organizations. Data were collected from semistructured participant interviews and the review of organizational documents. Data were analyzed using thematic analysis following Yin's 5-step process that resulted in the emergence of 3 main themes: competitive compensation and benefits, leadership communication, and training and advancement opportunities. A recommendation for retail sector leaders is to ensure a compensation and benefits strategy that delivers fair compensation based upon an employee's performance and a rewards and recognition program that provides for employees to feel valued and appreciated. Additionally, organizational leaders who develop an open-door policy and interact with their employees daily may see a decrease in their organizations' turnover. The implications for positive social change may include the development of new employment opportunities in communities. When more people in a community are employed, more taxes are created for local governments to create more opportunities for community members.

Strategies for Decreasing Employee Turnover in Retail Organizations

by

Mathias Oni-Eseleh

MS, Walden University, 2012

BA, University of Benin, 1986

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

October 2020

Dedication

This doctoral study is dedicated to my wife and friend, Blessing Oni-Eseleh, who always made me believe that there is nothing I cannot achieve. We have been through many challenges over the past twenty-nine years, and we still are healthy. I could not do this without your love and encouragement, and I thank you from the bottom of my heart for everything you have done for me and for sharing in every significant event in my life and for raising our children. To my children: Alexis, Mathias Jr., Marisa, and Shante, I did this program for you. I wanted to prove to you that you can carry out anything you wish. You can dream and reach for the stars. You all have limitless potential, and nothing can hold you back. I hope I have proved to you that dreams do come through, and I have been a good role model for you and taught you that education is an imperishable legacy. I believe you are all designed for great things. I could not have completed this program without your love and support. And finally, to the man, I have always come to call "Jonathan" (My Late Father). I miss you every day. Thank you for installing in me good morals and for believing in me even when no one did. May your soul continue to rest in peace.

Acknowledgments

First, I owe all honor to God Almighty for granting me the strength, favor, and courage to achieve the goals I have set for myself. I want to give a special acknowledgment to my amazing chair, Dr. Kathleen (Kate) Andrews. Dr. Kate, I am eternally grateful for your patience, understanding, expertise, and advice. This was a long journey, and without your guidance, this would not have been possible. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. Janet Booker and Dr. James Savard, for their support and feedback. Many thanks to my staff at Taconic Innovations past and present for teaching me most of the things I know about employees. Finally, I thank my brothers and sisters for all their support and prayers.

Table of Contents

Sec	ction 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	1
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	2
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	5
	Operational Definitions	6
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Assumptions	7
	Limitations	7
	Delimitations	8
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contribution to Business Practice	8
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	9

Conceptual Frameworkframework
Job Embedeness Theory
Dimensions of Job Embeddedness
Job Embeddedness and Employee turnover
Transition
Section 2: The Project
Purpose Statement
Role of the Researcher41
Participants43
Research Method and Design
Research Method
Research Design
Population and Sampling49
Ethical Research
Data Collection Instruments
Data Organization Technique56
Data Analysis57
Reliability and Validity60

Dependability	60
Credibilty	61
Transferabilityy	62
Confidentiality	62
Data Saturation	63
Transition and Summary	63
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	65
Introduction	63
Presentation of the Findings	666
Theme 1: Compensation	66
Theme 2: Leadership Communication	69
Theme 3: Training and Advancement Opportunities	74
Theme 4: Reward and Recognition	78
Applications to Professional Practice	82
Implications for Social Change	84
Recommendations for Action	86
Recommendations for Further Research	86
Reflections	89

Conclusion	91
References	93
Appendix A: Interview Protocol	139

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Retail sector leaders must understand the strategies for decreasing employee turnover because employee turnover may weaken the financial stability of organizations (Heritage, Gilbert, & Roberts, 2016). The lack of understanding of strategies to decrease employee turnover could lead to high employee turnover, which can lead to low productivity (Aisha & Hardjomidjojo, 2013; Zhang, 2013). Retail organizations unable to develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover lack the ability to enhance their overall financial operations (Jehanzeb, Hamid, & Rasheed, 2015). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover.

Background of the Problem

Employee turnover is one of the most significant problems retail sector leaders contend with on a regular basis because of the costs associated with the replacement and training of new employees (Hur, 2013; The U.S. Department of Labor Statistics, 2015). Employee turnover in the retail industry is high in the United States, approximately 61% for regular full-time employees (Tang, Liu, Oh, & Weitz, 2014). Hathaway (2013) stated that there was an increase in employee turnover in the United States of 200,000 employee turnovers a month from 2001 to 2011. Employee turnover in the retail industry costs each employer in the United States about \$190,000 each year (Harrison & Gordan, 2014). Research on strategies for decreasing employee turnover may provide retail sector leaders with strategies on how to address this issue.

Problem Statement

Employee turnover is an expensive business problem faced by retail organizations in the United States (Woods, 2015). Turnover rates in the United States increased by 98% between 2012 and 2015 (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics [BLS], 2015). According to the BLS (2015), turnover

rates increased in the United States by over 130% between 2014 and 2015 alone. The general business problem was retail sector leaders continue to incure losses in revenue because of employee turnover (see Harrison & Gordon, 2014). The specific business problem was that some retail sector leaders lack the ability and/or the knowledge to implement strategies to decrease employee turnover.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail sector leaders from the Upstate region of New York use to decrease employee turnover. The findings from this study could contribute to social change by providing retail sector leaders with additional knowledge about how to decrease employee turnover. Decreasing employee turnover could positively benefit retail sector leaders' financial outcomes and promote the financial well-being of families and communities.

Nature of the Study

In this study, I employed a qualitative multiple case study approach to understand the strategies retail sector leaders used to decrease employee turnover. Researchers use qualitative research methods to understand behaviors among study participants (Guion, Diehl, & McDonald, 2011). Opsal et al. (2015) suggested that researchers use the qualitative method to explore and record human experiences and strategies used by leaders by utilizing observations and interviews to present their findings. Qualitative studies must demonstrate a level of trustworthiness, dependability, and reliability (Wahyuni, 2012).

Ruys (2013) stated that researchers use quantitative methods to examine and describe relationships and differences among variables through statistical analysis and surveys. The quantitative method was inappropriate for this study because the goal of this study was to

understand the strategies that retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover in their organizations rather than conducting statistical analyses or experiments. I did not consider the mixed method approach for this study because mixed methods include both qualitative and quantitative methodologies. A mixed method approach was not suitable because this study did not require the use of both qualitative and quantitative methods simultaneously.

I used the multiple case study design for this study. Yin (2014) noted that the case study design is effective when conducting an in-depth investigation into a phenomenon through multiple sources of information. Yin opined that case study researchers seek to understand *what* and *how* questions about a phenomenon and draw conclusions from multiple types of data. The case study design was appropriate for this study because it offered the ability to collect, interpret, and analyze data from retail sector leaders to determine the strategies they implemented to decrease employee turnover in their organizations.

I considered other qualitative designs for this study, including phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative inquiry. Robertson and Thompson (2014) stated that the phenomenological inquiry involves the study of human experience from the perspective of individuals living the phenomenon. The focus of this study was not on the experiences of people encountering a phenomenon; consequently, the phenomenological design did not meet the needs of this study. Ethnography is the study and observation of ethnic groups or societies and their culture (Denzin & Lincoln, 2008; Merriam, 2000). Ethnography was not appropriate for this study because observing cultural groups and their cultures were not the goals of the study.

Research Question

What strategies do retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies did you implement to decrease employee turnover in your organization?
- 2. How did you gather the information you used to decrease employee turnover?
- 3. What were some of the critical barriers your organization faced when implementing strategies for decreasing employee turnover?
- 4. How did you address the key barriers to implementing strategies to decrease employee turnover?
- 5. What strategies were not successful in decreasing employee turnover in your organization?
- 6. What strategies were most effective in decreasing employee turnover?
- 7. What other information would you like to share regarding strategies for decreasing employee turnover?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study was the theory of job embeddedness, which provides an explanation of why people stay in an organization (see Mitchell, Holtom, Lee, Sablynski, & Erez, 2001). Mitchell et al. (2001) originally articulated the job embeddedness theory, stating that job embeddedness focuses on two dimensions: organizational and community embeddedness. Lee, Mitchell, Sablynski, Burton, and Holtom (2004) connected decreases in employee turnover to organizational dimensions rather than community dimensions. The investigation of job embeddedness to organizational dimensions was the primary focus of this study.

The job embeddedness theory was appropriate to use as the conceptual framework for this study because it provides a precise and consistent explanation as to the reasons employees in the retail sector chose to remain with the employers rather than other frameworks (see Allen, Peltokorpi, & Rubenstein, 2016; Karatepe, 2016). Mitchell et al. (2001) suggested that characteristics of job embeddedness include related links that people have on the job, their fit with the jobs they perform, and what they would sacrifice if they left their jobs. Mitchell et al. developed the theory as a potential means for understanding strategies retail sector leaders use in understanding why employees remain with their employers (Holtom & O'Neill, 2004).

In this study, I used the job embeddedness theory as a lens through which to investigate how fit, links, and sacrifice in the workplace (i.e., on-the-job) relates to employee turnover in retail organizations (see Lee et al. 2014). The job embeddedness theory provides a basis for exploring the relationship between workplace embeddedness and retail sector turnover. Job embeddedness benefits employees in retail organizations through enhanced levels of employee productivity and decreased turnover (Allen et al. 2016; Heritage, Gilbert, & Roberts, 2016).

Operational Definitions

Employee turnover: The deliberate separation of workers leaving their present place of work (Kam & Meyer, 2015).

Employee job satisfaction: An individual's feelings, perceptions, and attitudes toward the job that affects the degree of fit within the organization (Bin Shmailan, 2016).

Job embeddedness: The degree an employee attaches to an organization or position with varying strengths of links to other personnel, the perception of compatibility or fit within the organization, and a measure of the perceived cost of leaving the job (Mitchell et al., 2001).

Turnover intent: Thoughts of the employee of leaving the current employer regardless of whether the employee acts upon the intent (Nelissen, Forrier, & Verbruggen, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions in a study are things the researcher believes are accurate and relevant to the study, but they cannot be validated (Lips-Wiersma & Mills, 2014). I made the following four assumptions in this study. The first assumption was that retail sector leaders would provide answers to interview questions on the strategies they used to decrease employee turnover in their organizations. Another assumption was that the findings of this study would add to the body of knowledge for retail sector leaders to use when developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. I also assumed that retail sector leaders would voluntarily participate in this study. The final assumption was that job embeddedness theory was a suitable conceptual framework for this study.

Limitations

Henderson (2014) and Yeatman, Trinitapoli, and Hayford (2013) opined that limitations are weaknesses that occur in a study that are beyond the researcher's control. The first limitation of this study was the primary focus on strategies retail sector leaders used to decrease employee turnover. Connelly (2013) suggested that individuals sometimes distort past information and have difficulties remembering things that happened in the past. In this study, I relied on information from individuals' memories, which may also have served as a limitation. The second limitation was that I sought voluntary participation from individuals who identified themselves as sector leaders of retail organizations. Verification of the qualifications of study participants depended solely on the information and documents provided by these organizations. The final limitation

was that the data collected for the study were from interviews, which required the study participants to be honest. The reliability and honesty of the participants could affect the credibility of the study (Maskara, 2014).

Delimitations

Bloomberg and Volpe (2012) stated that delimitations are the conditions imposed on the study by the researcher to limit its scope. Brutus, Aguinis, and Wassmer (2012) found that researchers use delimitations to relate to geographical areas, data, and study participants. One delimitation of this study was that the target population included five retail sector leaders who successfully implemented strategies for decreasing employee turnover in their organizations. This target population may not represent all retail sector leaders. Yin (2018) suggested that qualitative researchers might use target population because of the limited time qualitative researchers have to conduct studies. Another delimitation was that this study focused on one specific geographical area in New York, and the findings might not be relevant to other parts of New York.

The Significance of the Study

Contribution to Business Practice

Decreasing employee turnover may increase organizations' business profitability and financial sustainability (Schaffner, Schiefele, & Ulferts, 2013). Companies that spend their resources on recruiting new employees because of high employee turnover are less likely to be profitable (Daskin & Tezer, 2012). The findings of this study may provide new information to retail sector leaders regarding how to develop strategies to reduce employee turnover and, thereby, increase profitability.

Implications for Social Change

Decreasing employee turnover could lead to higher community employment, an increase in the standard of living within the community, and provide communities the ability to generate more tax dollars for social and community programs. Identifying strategies for retail sector leaders to decrease employee turnover may improve organizational profitability, which would benefit employees, employees' families, and their communities. Furthermore, retail sector leaders who are cognizant of strategies for decreasing employee turnover may make meaningful contributions to social change initiatives in their communities by investing in community based activities. The findings from this study may contribute to social change by providing retail sector leaders with strategies to decrease employee turnover, leading to increased prosperity within communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover in retail organizations. In the literature review subsection, I provide critical analysis and synthesis of the extant literature related to strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover in retail organizations. A literature review is a systematic method for identifying and synthesizing the existing body of studies completed by researchers and scholars (Archibald, Radil, Xiaozhou, & Hanson, 2015). Rowe (2014) stated that there a need for researchers to review the work on other research topics relevant to their study before data collection and analysis; consequently, the primary aim in completing this literature review was to present a critical analysis and synthesis of literature relevant to this study.

The review began with an evaluation of the theory of job embeddedness because it was the conceptual foundation of this study. Following the review of the theory, I explore research

related to this study of employee turnover, strategies for decreasing employee turnover, and the cost of employee turnover. This section also includes other theories considered for use in this study.

The literature review includes sources found in databases and search engines, including peer-reviewed articles, dissertations, and other articles of interest. The following databases and search engines were used as well as public websites: ABI/Inform Complete, Academic Search Complete, Business Source Complete, eBook Collection (EBSCOhost), Emerald Management Journal, Google Scholar, and Thesis at Walden University. The 240 references cited in this literature review include 215 scholarly, peer-reviewed articles, representing 90% of the total sources; four government websites, representing 1% of the total; and 21 books and doctoral dissertation, representing 6.2% of the total. The total number of references published within the years 2015 to 2019 is 147, which is more than 85.1% of the total number of references cited.

Conceptual Framework

Job Embeddedness Theory

In this study, I used the theory of job embeddedness to help explain the factors effective in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Lee et al. (2004) and Mitchell et al. (2001) found that job embeddedness predicted employee job satisfaction and decreased employee turnover. What an employee thinks of the employer and the work environment forms the basis for the job embeddedness theory (Charlier et al. 2016). The job embeddedness dimensions of fit and

sacrifice determine how embedded and satisfied employees are within the retail sector (Rajappan, Nair, Priyadarshini, & Sivakumar, 2017).

Job embeddedness theory includes an examination of an employee's intent to stay with an employer, as well as the reverse, an employee's attachment to the employer as it influences turnover rates (Mitchell et al., 2001). Some scholars indicated that job embeddedness decreases employee turnover in organizations (Marasi, Cox, & Bennett, 2016). Nicholas, Mensah, and Owusu (2016) indicated that the following three dimensions exist to entice an employee to remain with an organization and decrease employee turnover: fits, links, and sacrifice (Chhabra, 2015; Schmitt, Hartog, & Belschak, 2015; Word & Park, 2015).

Charlier, Guay, and Zimmerman (2016) found the theory of job embeddedness to be a determinate factor in employee turnover, job performance, and attendance. Using the job embeddedness theory as a lens to explore the strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover provided a broad view of underlying themes applicable to relevant practices in business.

Dimensions of Job Embeddedness Theory

Mitchell et al. (2001) stated that the theory of job embeddedness consists of on-the-job and off-the-job factors that can result in employees leaving their organizations, thereby increasing turnover. Job embeddedness may decrease employees' desire to seek alternative employment (Kiazad, Holtom, Bhom, & Newman, 2015). Lee et al. (2014) found that researchers can learn much by studying the dimensions of job embeddedness and the impact of job embeddedness theory in decreasing employee turnover in organizations. In the following subsections, I explore how the dimensions of links, fit, and sacrifice may be valuable to retail sector leaders when developing strategies to decrease employee turnover in their organizations.

Links. Links refer to the formal and informal relationships that employees have with other employees within their organization, the organization, and the community (Allen et al., 2016). The more linked an employee is to the organization and the community, the higher the level of job embeddedness (Karatepe, 2016). Employees who participate in several committees within an organization relate positively to other employees within the organization who have family members in the community because these employees have higher levels of links, both to their organization and to the community (Burton, 2015). The work relationships employees have with their coworkers and the support they get from their families play a significant role in retail employees' job embeddedness (Karatepe, 2016).

As related to this study, recognition of the importance of the relationship retail employees have with their coworkers and their families could assist retail sector leaders in decreasing employee turnover in retail organizations. Links are important in employees' intentions to remain with their organization. For example, employees who have good relationships with their supervisors may value that relationship, influencing their intent to remain with the employer (Erkutlu & Chafra, 2017). When retail employees have positive relationships with their leaders, their families, and their communities, the employees become more productive (Halasagi & Jamuni, 2018).

Links, as a dimension of the job embeddedness theory, are significant in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in the retail sector (Darrat, Amyx, & Bennett, 2017). The relationships employees have both within and outside their organization play a significant role in decreasing employee turnover in organizations (Allen et al., 2016). The relationship younger employees in the workforce have with other employees in their organizations is of value to them, and these relationships extend beyond the work environment and affect their intentions

to remain with their organizations (Karatepe, 2016). Qazi, Khalid, and Shafique (2015) found that a positive relationship between employees in a workplace decreased employees' turnover. Nei, Snyder, and Litwiller (2015) analyzed 106 studies on nurses' inability to connect with others on the job, which led to increased nurse turnover. Lin and Kwantes (2015) found that employee interactions in the workplace were critical for decreasing employee turnover. Lin and Kwantes conducted a quantitative analysis of 34 participants and found that employees who participated in high levels of interaction with coworkers had a higher likelihood to have close relationships with other employees in the organization and, therefore, were less likely to leave their organizations. Porter, Woo, and Campion (2016) conducted a nationwide study with a sample of 266 U.S. employees to understand the relationship between job embeddedness and internal networking activities within the organization and found that links played a role in decreasing employee turnover. Lee and Yom (2015) found that among 244 South Korean nurses, job embeddedness positively aligned with organizational, supervisor, and colleagues' support. Therefore, retail sector leaders must provide opportunities for employee embeddedness to develop effective strategies for decreasing employee turnover.

Fit. When employees feel compatible and aligned to organizational goals and values they fit into the organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). Nicholas et al. (2016) suggested that employees who fit into the mission and vision of their organizations become tied to the organization and have a lower probability to leave the employer. Job satisfaction and job embeddedness increase when employees feel that the people in the organization, they work for share their values, beliefs, and interests (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017).

Abbaspour and Noghreh (2015) suggested that the more strongly employees think they can apply their skills in their assigned jobs, the better the performance and the more they feel they

fit into their jobs and their organizations. Kalidass and Bahron (2015) found that support from organizational leaders and alignment to organizational goals decreased employee turnover in organizations. Employee job satisfaction and the relationships of employees with their immediate supervisors present a perception of fit and comfortability to employees, indicating that the theory of job embeddedness is significant in decreasing employee turnover (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017).

Retail sector leaders who find ways to make employees comfortable by ensuring that they have flexible work schedules, defining expectations, and identifying ways to align organizational goals with employees' values may develop effective strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Santhanam, Kamalanabhan, Dyaram, and Ziegler (2015) found that employees who identified positively with their organizations and aligned with the values and mission of their organizations had better work performance and higher job embeddedness. Luksyte, Zhou, Shi, and Wang (2015) found that in a sample of 224 workers, employees who did not fit into the organization exhibited negative behavior leading to poor work performance and productivity. In ensuring that retail employees align with the organizations and fit into their assigned tasks, retail sector leaders can effectively develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover (Zoltners, Sinha, & Lorimer, 2016).

Sacrifice. Mitchell et al. (2001) described the third dimension of embeddedness as sacrifice. Sacrifice is the measure of material and psychological costs associated with leaving a job and includes what the employee would give up when leaving the organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). An employee's decision to stay or leave a job partially depends on the opportunities available to the employee and the opportunities that may be available to the employee if the employee leaves the present employer (Long, Ajafbe, & Kowang, 2014).

In the retail sector, employees value the flexibility of their schedules, portability within the industry, and the relationships they have with their customers (Lockard & Wolf, 2012). Organizational leaders play significant roles in determining employees' perceptions of sacrifice and what they might lose if they were to leave the employer (Erkutlu & Chafra, 2017). Erkutlu and Chafra (2017) emphasized the importance of retail sector leaders developing and executing flexibility in employee schedules when developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover.

Job Embeddedness and Employee Turnover

There are several similarities between the theory of job embeddedness and many other turnover theories (Akgunuz & Sanli, 2017; Borah & Malakar, 2015). Employees who find many areas of links to organizations think of what they could sacrifice should they choose to seek employment elsewhere (Allen et al., 2016). Karatepe (2016) found that employees with high job embeddedness, despite the type of supervisors they had, stayed with their employers. Ghosh and Gurunathan (2015) reviewed 37 studies published between 2001 and 2011 and found that job embeddedness theory was significant in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in organizations. The theory of job embeddedness explains the significance of the relationship retail employees have with their employers, coworkers, and the community (Darrat et al., 2017).

Employees with high job embeddedness may be satisfied with their jobs, which may increase their job performance (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017). In the retail industry, high job embeddedness may lead to increased customer satisfaction and organizational financial viability (Afsar & Badir, 2016). Job embeddedness could have a negative impact on employee behavior as related to their intention to leave a negative work environment. Burton (2015) found that employees may not report bullying on the job for fear that they might lose their financial status and other benefits that the employer provides. Additionally, employees may choose to remain with their employer if there is a link between them and their coworkers despite the lack of support

from their immediate supervisors (Allen et al., 2016). The retail sector may face direct and indirect costs because of the behaviors of highly embedded employees, according to Ghosh and Gurunathan (2015). Retail sector leaders should develop effective strategies for enhancing job embeddedness and decreasing employee turnover by taking into consideration the impact job embeddedness could have on their employees.

Marasi et al. (2016) found that job embeddedness impacted the level of trust and behaviors of employees in the workplace. Employees with a high level of embeddedness and trust of their organizations included a higher probability of engaging in unacceptable behaviors because they believe they do not have to follow the same rules as other employees. Employees could also have increased negative workplace behaviors because they cannot leave their employer because of what they could sacrifice for leaving (Allen et al.,2016).

Job embeddedness could impact employee burnout. Employees linked to the organization may internally have a sense of organizational commitment that could lead to pressure to perform at a very high level (Tziner, Rabenu, Radomski, & Belkin, 2015). Gabel, Shenueli, Dolan, Suarez Ceretti, and Nunez del Prado (2015) found that high levels of job embeddedness led to turnover because the employee was burned-out. Moradi (2014) found increased customer complaints and employee turnover in organizations among employee with high levels of job embeddedness because of high burnout levels. In developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in retail organizations, retail sector leaders should understand the impact of job embeddedness and the effectiveness of misusing embeddedness in the workplace because of the negative impact on the work environment.

Other Contrasting Theories

Expanding the conceptual foundation for this study was complemented by discussing contrasting theories (Reitz & Anderson, 2011). The job embeddedness theory focuses on the reason's employees choose to remain or leave their employer (Darrat et al., 2017). The purpose of this study was to explore strategies that retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover. Job embeddedness as a conceptual framework was more appropriate for a study on employee turnover in the retail industry. However, it was ideal to explore other theories relevant to developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover (Reitz & Anderson, 2011). Certain aspects of the theories are applicable to this study.

Herzberg Two-Factor Theory: Herzberg (1959) motivation-hygiene theory is also known as the two-factor theory of modification. As a psychologist, Herzberg used motivational hygiene theory in 1960 for selecting and training employees for AT&T. Herzberg (1974) explained factors that affect job attributes. According to Herzberg, the factors that determined employee satisfaction and dissatisfaction include a set of factors called motivators that cause happy feelings or job satisfaction. The satisfaction factors include recognition, achievement, growth, advancement, and responsibility. The other set of factors identified as hygiene factors remain relevant to employee dissatisfaction, and they include (a) interpersonal relations connected to salary, (b) supervisor, (c) subordinates, (d) peers; (e) company policy, and (f) working conditions (Herzberg et al., 1959).

Herzberg (1974) further suggested that job satisfaction and dissatisfaction are different. The presence of hygiene factors does not necessarily guarantee employee satisfaction, as employees can feel dissatisfied with the presence of the five hygiene factors (Herzberg,1959). Soodmand Afshar and Doosti (2016) noted that job satisfaction is not the opposite of job dissatisfaction and can both impact an employee's intention to stay or leave an organization.

Employee performance is different from hygiene and motivational factors. Herzberg (1959) suggested that two primary needs are essential: psychological and physiological. Herzberg (1974) suggested different employee outcomes exist with the motivation and hygiene factors. Accordingly, the hygiene factors provide employees with short-term performance outcomes or dissatisfaction. Herzberg also noted that the content of the job satisfies employees. Employees who are productive and feel valued think they make valuable contributions to the organization.

According to Herzberg (1974), the employee feels dissatisfied with his or her job when there are factors under the control of the organization. These factors include employer designed policy and procedures, employee wages and benefits, and overall working conditions. In examining the factors that lead to job satisfaction, Herzberg (1959) indicated that employee job satisfaction and performance focuses on factors such as an employee's performance achievement. Herzberg implied that high employee performance and positive behavior on the job indicates employee job satisfaction. Providing retail employees with satisfactory wages, benefits, and a supportive work environment could decrease employee turnover in the retail sector (Barrick, Thurgood, Smith, & Courtright, 2015).

Solaja, Idowu, and James (2016) studied the employee turnover rate of customer service agents to identify the factors that contributed to increased employee turnover. Solaja et al. concluded that morale and employee compensation were essential in decreasing employee turnover in organizations. Besides, when organizational leaders support the employees and create a good working environment, the employees remain with the organization (Solaja & Ogunola, 2016). Exploring turnover using motivation and hygiene in the retail sector must focus on employee compensation. When wages are competitive with other sectors, retail employees tend to remain with their employer (Labrague, Gloe, McEnroe-Petitte, Tsaras, & Colet, 2018).

Kushta (2017) used Herzberg's (1974) motivation-hygiene theory to explore the relationship between employee embeddedness, job satisfaction, and their impact on employee turnover. Kushta suggested that job embeddedness, job satisfaction, and motivation play a significant role in decreasing employee turnover. Thiranun (2016) used Herzbergs (1959) motivation-hygiene theory to analyze the factors that affect talented employees in Thailand and China. Wages were essential to employees; employees wanted compensation for the work that they did, however in the long-term, employee interest was in the things that made them feel respected and recognized. Money was not the ultimate motivator; other factors motivate employees to perform, and many of these other factors drive quality performance from employees (Thiranun, 2016).

Atalic, Can, & Canturk, (2016) findings also remain consistent with Herzberg (1959) findings in that when work conditions, interpersonal relationships, organizational policies, and culture met the needs of the employee, job dissatisfaction decreased. However, when employees lacked a sense of belonging or experienced a negative work environment, the employees were dissatisfied with their jobs (Atalic et al.,). Other scholars supported Herzberg's findings implying that when organizational leaders developed effective policies and followed the policies, employee turnover decreased (Siahaan, 2017). Kushta (2017) used Herzberg motivation-hygiene theory to explore the impact of motivation, job satisfaction, and employee turnover and found a positive relationship between job satisfaction, employee motivation, and turnover.

Mahzan and Abidin (2017) conducted a study on the effects of job satisfaction and motivation on employee turnover and found that motivation and job satisfaction are significant in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Sankar (2015) indicated that researchers identified factors, such as job satisfaction and job embeddedness as significant in developing

strategies decreasing employee turnover. A relationship between job satisfaction and job embeddedness may exist (Rawashdeh, Al-Saraireh, & Obeidat, 2015). Using job embeddedness as a conceptual lens for this study includes factors that influence job satisfaction and dissatisfaction and how they impact an employee to remain or leave an organization.

The Herzberg (1959) two-factor theory helps to explore the significant components of employee commitment that retail sector leaders must address (Pryce, 2016). Using the motivation-hygiene theory during the research process helps to understand the cognitive and organizational factors affiliated with commitment (Ben Slimane, 2017). Herzberg's two-factor theory plays an essential role in examining business problems related to employee job satisfaction and commitment (Issa Eid, 2016). Sheikh Ahmed, Oyagi, and Tirimba (2015) defined motivation as an individual's willingness to apply increased levels of effort to achieve organizational goals. Fareed and Jan (2016) stated that Herzberg's two-factor theory continuously applied in employee commitment research was linked to employee motivation. Retail employees who feel unmotivated and committed to their organizations express the intent to leave their employer (Keiningham, Aksoy, Daly, Perrier, & Solom ,2006). Retail sector leaders must strive to build in motivational factors when developing strategies for decreasing employee tumover.

Ben and Slimane (2017) suggested that employers can influence worker turnover by utilizing the motivation-hygiene theory. Rukh, Choudhary, and Abbasi (2015) described salary as a fixed amount of money paid by employers to employees for work performed. Ben and Slimane also indicated that factors such as increased motivation, pay, and job satisfaction decreases employee turnover. Ali, Edwin, and Tirimba (2015) stated that promotions and wage increases were instrumental in increasing employee satisfaction levels, while absenteeism and employee turnover increased with job dissatisfaction. Rukh et al stated that low wages and noncompetitive

benefits packages were common reasons for decreased employee commitment. Ali et al. indicated that employees working in low wage professions tended to have less competitive benefits and displayed turnover intentions. Retail sector leaders who provided better wages and benefits to their employees decreased turnover at a higher rate than retail sector leaders who provided lesser wages and benefits (Lockard & Wolf, 2012). As related to this study, retail sector leaders should develop plans to ensure competitive wages for employees as part of their strategy for decreasing employee turnover in their organizations.

Maslow's Theory: Maslow (1943) ranked human needs from the bottom to the top of the hierarchy. Maslow outlined five primary motivational needs (a) safety, (b) social interaction, (c) self-esteem, (d) security, and (e) self-actualization. The need for people to fulfill basic needs will become stronger the longer the requirements become difficult to accomplish (Maslow, 1943). Maslow indicated that people must satisfy the lower level basic needs before progressing to the higher-level growth needs (Healy, 2016). Self-actualization is the ultimate level that one gets to after meeting other levels (Tims, Derks, & Bakker, 2016). Maslow opined that each need relates to the other and all needs are relevant to a person's self-actualization (as cited in D'Souza & Gurin, 2016). Using Maslow's theory as a conceptual framework to explore strategies for decreasing employee turnover remains consistent with strategies used by retail sector leaders in decreasing employee turnover in their organizations.

According to Maslow (1943), physiological needs are the basic needs that people require to survive. Everyone strives to attain a level of security and safety after attaining the basic needs (Maslow, 1943). Safety and security requirements, including competition, economic circumstances, law, and stability apply when individuals feel threatened by situations they cannot control (Maslow, 1943). Everyone needs love and intimacy; everyone needs to feel loved within

the group and that they contribute to the mission and vision of the group (Kim, 2015). People need to master their work, have a sense of achievement, self-respect, and respect for others (Ali, Shah, & Beh, 2016). Individuals feel good about themselves and their self-esteem when they feel respected and acknowledged (Sullivan, 2017). Self-esteem also increases when employees feel recognized and fulfilled (Maslow, 1943). Adiele and Abraham (2013) criticized Maslow s failure of the theory to consider cultural differences among people and how culture influences people's behaviors. The retail sector leader should strive to create an environment that fosters unity and security when developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover.

Maslow (1943) suggested that leaders should meet employees' physiological, safety, love, esteem, and self-actualization needs for employees to remain satisfied; leaders cannot progress to a higher level before reaching satisfaction (Thomas, 2017). Researchers interested in exploring factors that lead to employee job satisfaction should understand Maslow's theory (as cited in Barrick et al. 2015). Maslow's hierarchy of needs theory provides a basis for developing effective strategies for decreasing employee turnover (as cited in Thibodeaux, Labat, M., Lee, & Labat, C., 2015). However, some scholars argued that Maslow's theory only provided a survival guide on basics needs essential for survival and not relevant for developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover (as cited in Cesario & Chambel, 2017; Siahaan, 2017). As related to the retail sector, leaders can utilize the principles of Maslow's theory in exploring strategies for decreasing employee turnover in their organizations (Kuranchie-Mensah & Amponsah-Tawiah, 2016).

Taormina and Gao (2015) tested the notion of job satisfaction at a lower level of a hierarchical structure leads to a prediction of satisfaction as outlined by Maslow (1943). Tormina and Gao supported the importance of Maslow's theory, to employee job satisfaction. However, there have been mixed results in research about Maslow's theory as it relates to job satisfaction

(Roberts, Walter, & Miles, 2008). Vargas-Hernandez and Arreola-Enriquez (2017) found that Maslow's theory did not show job satisfaction and motivation at a high level as shown by the choice of "indifferent" in the administered questionnaire. Harrigan (2015) opined that the Maslow theory misses the essential elements of human behaviors, which could explain specific behaviors including why employees lack satisfaction with their employer. Employee job satisfaction, self-actualization, engagement, and motivation are important factors that contribute to the employee intention to leave or stay with the organization (Gatling, Kim, & Milliman, 2016).

Transformational Leadership Theory: The transformational leadership theory provides an alternative to the job embeddedness theory. Developed in 1978 by McGregor Burns, Bernard Bass extended the theory in 1985. Business leaders still study the original theory of transformational leadership (Paladan, 2015). The theory focuses primarily on the ability of a leader to motivate, inspire, and change employees to accept and become part of an organization. Gyensare, Anku-Tsede, Sanda, and Okpoti (2016) used the theory of transformational leadership to apply to a study about employee turnover and strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Using the principles of transformational leadership brings about positive change in organizations as the principles may expose the qualities of a good leader (Shin, Seo, Shapiro, & Taylor, 2015). The qualities of a retail sector leader play a significant role in the development of strategies that decrease employee turnover.

The behaviors of transformational leaders inspire and motivate their employees and provide them with opportunities to develop their skills and talents (Liu, Jing, & Gao, 2015).

Transformational leadership style plays an important role in mitigating turnover intenstions (Peachey, Burton, & Wells, 2014). However, there is a relationship between the transformational leadership behaviors and other organizational principles such as job satisfaction, employee

commitment, and the theory of job embeddedness as a framework for exploring strategies organizational leaders use in decreasing employee turnover in organizations. The transformational leadership theory is of use because of its ability to study how the behaviors of leaders affect the employee's performance and organizational commitment (Pohler & Schmidt, 2015). Through the principles of transformational leadership, retail sector leaders can provide a supportive environment that addresses professional growth and development (Paladan, 2015).

According to Cohen (2006), the theory of job embeddedness is significant when developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Additionally, Tharenou and Caulfield (2010) adapted Mitchell and Lee (2001) explanation of why expatriates who served in other countries preferred to remain in the countries they served rather than returning home. Some expatriates became embedded in foreign countries and enjoyed the career options available to them while they fit the culture of the organizations abroad, according to Caulfield (2010). Therefore, retail sector leaders should develop strategies for enhancing employee turnover using the job embeddedness theory because of the effectiveness of the theory in other sectors.

Employee Turnover

Employee turnover is one of the most significant challenges faced by organizational leaders. Turnover occurs when an employee chooses to leave an organization voluntarily or involuntarily (Kloutsiniotis & Mihail, 2017). Involuntary turnover is when the employer decides to terminate the employment of the employee (Awang, Amir, Osman, & Mara. (2013). Other types of employee turnover in organizations include lay-off, injuries to employees and other issues that the employee or the employer has no control over.

Voluntary Turnover: Voluntary turnover occurs when the employees decide to leave the employer the employee's decision to leave the employer (U.S. Census Bureau, 2016). The

employee thinks about what they dislike in the organization, seeks other employment opportunities, and finally decides to leave the organization (Tastan, 2014). Voluntary turnover could have a negative impact on an organization's financial stability (Stamp & Thoren, 2016). Therefore, retail sector leaders must strive to maintain employees in their status because of the knowledge and skills employees have about the organization's business (Islam, Hasan, & Rahman, 2015). Employees dedicated to their organization invest their energy and time into their job because they have a sense of meaning, pride, and belonging (Cahill, McNamara, Pitt-Catsouphes, & Valcour, 2015). Retail sector leaders should develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover in their organizations that take into consideration the value of each employee to the organization.

Consequences of Employee Turnover: Employee turnover has adverse effects for organizations (Stamp & Thoren, 2016). While there are several direct and indirect consequences, organizations lose billions of dollars annually because of employee turnover (McManus & Mosca, 2015). Replacing a departed employee can be expensive and management of organizations also deal with intangible losses because of the departed employee's talents (Stamp & Thoren, 2016). Employers faced the loss of organizational knowledge, distribution of workload, and in most cases employee morale when turnover occurs in organizations (Stamp & Thoren, 2016). Consequences of employee turnover are different in every business sector and examining the reasons for employee turnover in the retail industry as a stand-alone is essential to the success of organizational leaders in the industry (Gouviea, Milfont, & Guerra, 2014).

Employee Turnover in Retail Organizations: Retail sector leaders in the United States annually lose \$190,000 in employee turnover (Harrison & Gordon, 2014). Decreasing employee turnover in the U.S. retail industry remains a significant concern for retail sector leaders because

of the cost associated with turnover in the industry (Katsikea, Theodosiou, & Morgan, 2015). Therefore, developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover is critical for the industry (McManus & Mosca, 2015).

Focusing on strategies effective in decreasing employee turnover in the retail industry must be a priority for retail leaders (Kamalzaman, Zulkeflee, Hamid, Sahari, & Halim, 2015). According to Almeida (2015), a relationship exists between employee turnover in the retail organization and the financial sustainability of the organization because turnover has a direct impact on sales. Implementing strategies successfully in decreasing employee turnover in the retail industry continues to be a struggle for retail leaders in the United States (Alshanbri et al., 2015). While little research exists on employee turnover in the retail industry, researchers' interest in the phenomenon has increased since 2012 (Loliwe, 2016). According to BLS (2016), the retail industry was one of the business sectors with the highest employee turnover rate in 2015. Management in the retail industry in the United States has the capability of employing over 15 million workers (BLS, 2016). Because the number of individuals employed in the retail sector, researchers' interest in exploring strategies for decreasing employee turnover in the sector increased significantly (Loliwe, 2016), supporting the need for studies such as this.

Wang et al. (2015) argued that high employee turnover affects retail organizations productivity and ability to compete. According to Kamarulzaman et al., (2015), the workforce plays a critical role in the operations of a retail organization. Hence, it is essential for leaders in the retail sector to avoid high employee turnover. Employees in the retail industry have direct contact with the customers, and for retail organizations to be successful, it is essential to build and maintain a good working relationship between the employees and the customers (Tan & Waheed, 2011). The loyalty of customers depends on the relationship they have with the employees in a

retail setting. Customers rely on their relationship with employers, which then translates into sales. Retail sector leads should strive to develop strategies to decrease employee turnover taking into consideration the relationship their employees have with their customers as this will provide employees the opportunity to fulfill some of their personal needs (Van Dierendonck, Lankester, Zmyslona, & Rothweiler, 2016).

The retail industry in the United States provides employment partly based on experience and level of education. Highly educated individuals may occupy management positions while people with less education occupy lower level positions (Labrague, et al.2018). Opportunities do exist, however, for lower level employees to advance to higher positions based on their level of dedication. skills and experience within the retail industry (Mitchell & Zatzick, 2015).

According to the BLS (2016), the retail industry has the capacity of employing over ranks among the highest employers in the United States. Zhang, Ni, and Xu (2013) suggested that the high rate of employee turnover in the retail industry could be because of a lack of advancement opportunities in the sector, inadequate training for employees, and reduced employee compensation packages. Ferreira and Almeida (2015) had a contrary opinion to Zhang et al. s (2013) assertion. Ferreira and Amiodaron stated that there is no relationship between employee compensation and training and employee turnover. The inconsistency in the views expressed by these researchers is an indication of the complexities that exist in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in the retail sector. The retail sector does not retain qualified employees because of the high rate of employee turnover (Kamalzaman et al., 2015). Retail sector leaders must understand the strategies to decrease employee turnover in the retail sector supporting the need for further study.

Cost of Employee Turnover: Leaders of organizations may create a loss of millions of dollars when an employee leaves the company, especially with the loss of a skilled employee and one in a leadership position (Amankwaa & Anku-Tsede, 2015). Leaders' reaction to employee turnover could lead to unemployment and slow the economy (Mehrnoosh & Jouzaryan, 2016). A sustainable and productive organization aligns with the relationship between employee retention and economic stabilization, in which an organization needs to attain a stable workforce (Zhang, 2016).

Employee turnover affecting organizational goals prevents organizations from maintaining their goals and objectives, as well as preventing them from maintaining their competitive edge (Chib, 2016; Kim & Hyun, 2017; Lin, Tsai, & Mahatma, 2017). Therefore, it is essential for organizational leaders to preserve their workforce by developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover (Hamid, Reihaneh, & Siroos, 2016; Lin et al. 2017; Parasız, Koç, Ilgar, & Şahin, 2017). The high cost of employee turnover appears in different faces such as advertisement, training, review of new employees, and productivity (Abid & Butt, 2017; Labrague, et al., 2018; Pirgaip, & Tasdemir 2017; Parasız et al. 2017; Wang et al. 2015). Employee turnover is one of the primary interests of practitioners, scholars and organizational leaders (Abid & Butt, 2017; Muqadas, Rehman, & Aslam, 2017). Practitioners must work collaboratively with retail organizational leaders to develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover in retail organizations; decreasing employee turnover could be essential to the economic sustainability of the sector.

Organizations could lose some of their seasoned employees as they leave the organization (Narayanan, 2016). Organizations with high levels of turnover rates for full-time employees also experience poor customer satisfaction ratings (Hurley, 2015). According to Şerban and Aceleanu

(2015), some retail sector leaders recognize the high cost of employee turnover as something that distracts them from their average daily functions. Increase in employee turnover reduces organizational profitability (Roche, Duffield, Homer, Buchan, & Dimitrelis, 2015). Some organizational leaders continue to struggle with the problem of employee turnover in their organizations (Şerban & Aceleanu, 2015). Providing avenues for organizational leaders to explore strategies effective in decreasing employee turnover in the retail industry may provide needed assistance to organizational leaders struggling with this phenomenon.

Because of the problems caused by employee turnover, some organizational leaders created a general outline of the specific cost associated with employee turnover in their organizations (Qazi et al., 2015). However, most of the research on employee turnover focused on retention strategies and the need for organizational leaders to increased employee wages, develops a more robust benefits package for employees; however, there have been fewer discussions on the need to develop internal controls while enhancing embeddedness on the job (Qazi et al., 2015). Qazi et al. (2015) further opined that it is essential to develop internal control measures that will focus on strategies that decrease the need for an employee to leave the employer because the cost of employee turnover could have a substantial impact on the profitability of an organization. There is a cost for training a new employee when an employee leaves an organization, and new employees make mistakes that could affect productivity (Crome, Shaw, & Baillie, 2016). Furthermore, retail sector leaders incur additional turnover costs when they revise and review the work completed by new employees (Crome et al., 2016). Developing strategies for employee turnover is essential to the sustainability and growth of an organization (Cloutier, Felusiak, Hill, & Pemberton-Jones, 2015). Understanding the factors that play a role in an employee's decision to leave an organization is essential to addressing the economic costs of turnover organization (Qazi & Shafique, 2015).

Employee turnover is costly and difficult for organizations (Pearlman & Schaffer, 2013; Perez & Mirabella, 2013). Employee turnover affects the ability of stakeholders and shareholders to meet their financial goals (Bauer, 2012) affecting the entire financial stability and sustainability of organizations (Selden, Schimmoeller, & Thompson, 2013). Developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover is essential because increased employee turnover is one of the primary causes of reduced sustainability for most organizations (Lee & Ha-Brookshire, 2017). Increased turnover can reduce organizational profits and organizational sustainability (Jang & Kandampully, 2017). Retail sector leaders have an incentive to exploit strategies that have been effective in decreasing employee turnover in organizations because of the need to enhance organizational profitability.

Pentareddy and Suganthi (2015) surmised that employee turnover is costly to organizations as turnover affects the operations of businesses in the retail sector. Gialuisi and Coetzer (2013) suggested that the cost of finding and training new employees could drain the resources of an organization. Maertz and Boyar (2012) noted that employee turnover leads to a loss of skills and knowledge in organizations and this could impact the financial sustainability of organizations. Ratna and Chawla (2012) also stated that the primary costs associated with employee turnover are in the areas of replacement, recruitment, training, and business continuity during the period when the employee voluntarily quits and when a replacement is in place in the organization. Gianluigi and Coetzer (2013) argued that employee turnover had a double-edged impact on organizations: turnover affects the cost and profitability of the organization and has a significant impact on the overall bottom-line of an organization, which James and Mathew (2012) called productivity and organizational sustainability. Organizational leaders interested in avoiding the high cost of employee turnover may benefit from an exploration of strategies effective in decreasing employee turnover in organizations.

Strategies for Decreasing Employee Turnover: Developing a simple strategy to decrease employee turnover is a first step (Deery & Jago, 2015). However, employee needs differ according to the industry (Deery & Jago, 2015). Strategies for decreasing employee turnover in the manufacturing industry could be very different from strategies that could be effective in the retail sector. Therefore, organizational leaders should involve their employees when developing the strategy within their organizations (Deery & Jago, 2015). When employees engage in organizational decisions, they feel they fit into the mission and vision of the organization, and they stay in the organization (Nicholas et al., 2016).

Developing strategies to decrease employee turnover is essential because organizational leaders can avoid the cost of training new employees, increase productivity, and maintain the culture in their organization (George, 2015). It is essential for organizational leaders to implement strategies successfully in decreasing employee turnover (Nelissen, Forrier, & Verbruggen, 2016). According to Mawanza (2017), reducing employee turnover is beneficial to both the leaders of organizations and them provides employees with a safe operational environment. George (2015) opined that creating a positive work environment where employees feel they fit into the organization seems to be one of the most effective strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Employees who have opportunities to work in positive environment fear what they might lose if they should leave the employer for another employer; therefore, they may choose to remain with the employer with which they are comfortable (Erkutlu & Chafra, 2017).

Bush (2017) suggested that organizational leaders should develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover that includes adequate training programs for employees so that they are competent in the performance of their duties. Patel and Hamlin (2015) found that organizational leaders who had open door policies and interacted with their employees' daily

decreased employee turnover in their organizations. Patel and Hamlin suggested effective communication between leaders and their employees. It is important to involve employees when developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in organizations (Lu, Tu, Li, & Ho, 2016). Providing support for the goals set by employees within the organization is one-way organizational leaders can decrease turnover among their employees (Dubey, Gunasekaran, Altay, Childe, & Papadopoulos, 2016). According to Naim and Lenka (2017), most employees appreciate leaders who take the time to mentor them and teach them in the process.

Organizational leaders should offer flexible work schedules to their when their organization can provide this flexible schedule (George, 2015; Sweet, Pitt-Catsouphes, & James, 2017). Baumann (2015) suggested that stress in the workplace could be a result of the employee's schedule and could lead the employee to seek employment elsewhere, thereby increasing employee turnover in the retail sector. Therefore, retail sector leaders must strive to develop flexible schedules for employees in the retail sector supporting the need for additional study and research.

Bush (2017) suggested that one-way organizational leaders can decrease employee turnover is by providing employees training relevant to their jobs. Retail, corporate leaders failed to recognize the importance of training and development for many years (Damij, Levnajić, Skrt, & Suklan, 2015). Damij et al. (2015) believed leaders make assumptions about employee training and suggested that organizational leaders must ensure that employees receive training that is appropriate to their assigned jobs. Deery and Jago (2015) suggested that organizational leaders cannot ignore issues related to employee development and practice. When corporate leaders provide support and training to employees, the training helps give the positive effect on job embeddedness and may affect the employee's intention to leave the employer (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017).

Another useful strategy retail organizational leader may use to decrease employee turnover is having daily interactions with their employees seeking regular feedback from them on corporate decisions. Patel and Hamlin (2015) opined that leaders who had regular discussions with their employees decreased employee turnover more than leaders who did not have daily talks with their employees. Patel and Hamlin stated that effective communication between leaders and their employees is one of the most effective strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Employees comply at a higher rate when they are involved in all work and when the employer seeks their input in the decision-making process (Deery & Jago, 2015).

Lu et al. (2016) found that employees supported by their employers do not seek other opportunities when there is adequate compensation from the employers. Lu et al. examined the relationship between the support employees received from their leaders and employee turnover. Lu et al. concluded that leadership support was an effective strategy for decreasing employee turnover; leaders who support and providing regular feedback to their employees reduce turnover in their organizations. Supportive administrators reduce employees' stress by providing continuous guidance and feedback to their followers (Buzeti, Klun, & Stare, 2016). Employees wait to feel valued and have direct contact with their leaders on a regular basis through their opinions and contributions (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017).

One effective way retail sector leaders effectively decreased employee turnover in retail organizations was by developing simple conflict resolution strategies (Ko & Kim, 2016).

Leadership involvement in resolving these conflicts is essential to the employee (Mayr, 2017; Siyanbola & Gilman, 2017). Retail sector leaders must strive to coach their employees through conflicts as part of the strategies for decreasing turnover in the retail sector.

Organizational leaders who rewarded their employees for good work and meeting targets also decreased employee turnover (Gigliotti & Ruben, 2017; Lu et al.,2016; Taneja, Sewell, & Odom, 2015). When organizational leaders reward employees for their skills and dedication, employee turnover can be decreased (Prouska, Psychogios, & Rexhepi, 2016; Siyanbola & Gilman, 2017). Employers who offered monetary rewards to their employees received a higher level of loyalty and commitment from the employees, and that resulted in decreased employee turnover (Alyuninnisa & Saptoto, 2015; Siyanbola & Gilman, 2017). Creating opportunities for employees to improve their skills, rewarding them for work performed, and for their dedication increases job embeddedness and decreased employee turnover in a business industry including the retail sector (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2015).

Leaders who developed strategies to support goals set by their employees also reduced employee turnover (Dubey et al., 2016). Employees feel connected to leaders who support them and who invest time and energy in their growth within the organization (Naim & Lenka, 2017). Organizational leaders who mentor their employees, provide them with positive feedback, and support their goals may decrease employee turnover in their organizations (Lee & Mao, 2015; Naim & Lenka, 2017). Inability to decrease employee turnover could lead to decreased productivity (Liu, Zhang, Du, & Hu, 2015). To decrease employee turnover, organizational leaders must develop strategies that reduce turnover while understanding strategies that have been effective in decreasing employee turnover in organizations supporting the need for further study.

Transition

Employees in most sectors, including the retail sector, value the relationship they have with their organizations and those around them (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017). Among the general expectations' employees have of their organizations are the desire to work in an environment that

is welcoming, with decent compensation, and excellent benefits (Akgunduz & Sanli, 2017). A good relationship with managers, work-life balance, and organizational commitment to the employee are some of the factors that can be influential to employees' decisions to remain with the employer. Organizational leaders can implement strategies effective in decreasing employee turnover in organizations (Deery & Jago, 2015).

Section 1 of this study included an introduction to the background of the problem, a review of the background of the problem, problem and purpose statements, nature of the study, the primary research question, interview questions, conceptual framework for the study, definitions of terms, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study, significance of the study, contribution to business practice, implications for social change, and a review of the professional and academic literature. Section 2 includes the restatement of the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments, data collection technique, data organization technique, data analysis, and reliability and validity. Section 3 of this study includes the presentation of the findings, applications of the study to professional practice, implications for positive social change, recommendations for action, recommendations for future research, reflections, summary, and study conclusions.

Section 2: The Project

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail sector leaders from the Upstate region of New York use to decrease employee turnover. The findings from this study could contribute to social change by providing retail sector leaders with additional knowledge about how to decrease employee turnover. Decreasing employee turnover could positively benefit retail sector leaders' financial outcomes and promote the financial well-being of families and communities.

Role of the Researcher

Simon and Goes (2013) stated that the role of the researcher is to provide a precise and accurate data collection process while displaying ethical standards. My role in this study was to explore relevant literature and related information to the stated business problem of this study and conduct semistructured interviews. Abma and Stake (2014) suggested that the role of a researcher in a qualitative case study is to provide a detailed description and analysis of a problem based on one or multiple cases. Yin (2014) suggested that the researcher must maintain the objectivity and reliability of the research design. My relationship with this topic stemmed entirely from the perspective of a consumer observing the nature of turnover in the retail sector. As a close observer of the retail sector, I understand the impact employee turnover has on the day-to-day operations of the sector. The pattern of employee turnover in the retail sector drew my personal interest in investigating what retail leaders did to decrease employee turnover in their industry.

In this study, I followed the guidelines laid out in *The Belmont Report* (National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research, 1974), taking into consideration the beneficence and justice of all study participants (see

Kaufman et al., 2016). Adams and Miles (2013) indicated that the requirements of *The Belmont Report* are respect of persons, beneficence, and justice. I treated all study participants with respect and dignity, as outlined by *The Belmont Report*. Additionally, I met the research expectations of the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB) and completed the mandatory ethics training before beginning the research. Approval was obtained from the Walden University IRB prior to collecting data for this study.

One aspect of the role of a researcher is to reduce or eliminate bias within a study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In a qualitative study, the researcher is the primary data collector, and this strategy can lead to unintentional bias on the part of the researcher (Draper & Swift, 2011). Tuohy, Cooney, Dowling, Murphy, and Sixsmith (2013) stated that researchers can effectively use bracketing to set aside personal biases in studies. Overgaard (2015) agreed, indicating that a researcher could reduce bias by using a disciplined process called bracketing to avoid preconceived notions about the topic under investigation. I followed these suggestions and included the use of bracketing during the research and data analysis phase of this study. Because bracketing involves removing all personal experience, knowledge, or beliefs from the research topic (Marshall & Rossman, 2016), I performed bracketing before recording interviews with participants and documenting the results of the interviews in a journal. The journal included detailed notes of my biases and perceptions during data collection and data analysis.

In this study, I collected data through semistructured interviews using an interview protocol (see Appendix A) to ensure consistency across all participant interviews. Yin (2018) reported that an interview protocol contains information concerning data collection. The interview protocol used in this study includes the interview questions, the procedures, and the

general rules to follow during the interviews. According to Bond et al. (2014), researchers should use an interview protocol with all study participants to ensure consistency and credibility.

To ensure that the study is credible, I carried out member checking with the participants. Thomas (2017) suggested that member checking improves the credibility of qualitative research. I used member checking to reduce personal bias in this study by providing an opportunity to study participants to ensure that the interpretations, analysis, and the conclusions drawn from the interview data were accurate. Study participants had the opportunity to provide additional information to my interpretations of the data as part of member checking.

Participants

The participants for this study were retail sector leaders who implemented strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Teeuw et al. (2014) suggested that researchers need to identify and specify strategies that are effective when conducting research. Purposeful sampling was used in this study. Setia (2016) stated that purposeful sampling occurs when a researcher purposively selects participants to answer a research question. The purposeful sampling method allows qualitative researchers to select participants who meet the eligibility criteria for this study (Patton, 2015). Consequently, I intentionally recruited five retail organization leaders who successfully implemented strategies for decreasing employee turnover.

Englander (2012) suggested that researchers should select participants for a study before collecting data. Participants selected for this study had to meet the following criteria: (a) be an owner or hold the title of manager of a retail sector and (b) be a retail sector leader who successfully implemented strategies to decrease employee turnover. I contacted retail sector leaders in the Upstate region of New York whose names were publicly available on the Internet. The retail leaders contacted had provided oral evidence that they had successfully implemented

strategies for decreasing employee turnover. I provided the retail sector leaders who met the study criteria with information about the study along with an invitation to participate. Once retail sector leaders responded to my e-mail and agreed to participate in the study, we scheduled a mutually acceptable date and time for the telephone interviews. I explained the details to the participants and provided them with an opportunity to ask questions. Telephone interviews were conducted after the study participants signed and completed the consent form.

Jacob and Ferguson (2012) stressed the importance of the use of scripts, which can prevent researchers from omitting essential material when sharing information and asking questions of study participants. My goal was to develop and maintain a cordial relationship with all study participants during initial contact, before beginning the interviews, during the interview, and during the member checking process. I used talking points to introduce myself and to discuss all aspects of the study to participants. The talking points that were used during the study included the name of the study, the purpose of the study, the study population, and eligibility criteria for potential study participants. All study participants were volunteers.

Gibson, Benson, and Brand (2013) suggested that the relationship between the researchers and the participants is crucial to the success of any research. To maintain confidentiality in the study, I used fictional names (i.e., pseudonyms) for the retail sector leaders who participated in the study (see Thomas, 2015). I informed the study participants of their right to withdraw from the study at any time (see Gibson et al., 2013). All data collected for this study will remain stored on a password-protected, universal serial bus (USB) flash drive stored in a fireproof safe for 5 years to which only I have access. Data will be deleted from the USB flash drive after 5 years. I will also store all hard copies of data, including the signed informed

consents, for 5 years in a locked file cabinet to which only I have access. All hard copies will also be destroyed after 5 years.

Research Method and Design

Wohlin and Aurum (2015) found that when conducting research, it is essential for researchers to select research methods appropriate for investigating the identified problem. The three primary methods for conducting studies are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). The qualitative method is focused on understanding specific issues regarding the experiences of study participants (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Bevan (2014) suggested that researchers can use qualitative methods to record and observe study participants in a natural setting; therefore, I used the qualitative approach in this study. By contrast, the quantitative method collects data used for testing hypotheses created from previous knowledge (McCusker & Gunaydin, 2015). Shannon-Baker (2015) surmised that researchers use the mixed research method to answer complex questions that require both the qualitative and quantitative research methods.

I selected the multiple case study design instead of the phenomenological design because questions of *what, how*, and *why* receive clear and consistent answers with the use of a case study design (Yin, 2018). Stake (2013) articulated that using a multiple case study enables gathering more information about the phenomenon in a researcher's search of the commonality of the cases. The following subsections include the justification for the chosen method and design.

Research Method

I selected the qualitative research method to understand the strategies retail sector leaders used to decrease employee turnover. Bevan (2014) suggested that researchers can use qualitative methods to record and observe study participants in a setting they have chosen. The qualitative

method is an exploratory research method used by researchers to gain a proper understanding of a phenomenon (Hayward, Bungay, Wolff, & MacDonald, 2016). Karatepe (2016) used the qualitative method specifically to explore the impact of job embeddedness and employee turnover. To understand the current business problem and highlight the practices of retail sector leaders, I used the qualitative method to gain insight into the phenomenon from different perspectives (see Smit, 2017).

The quantitative method involves analysis of relationships among variables, which was not the focus of interest in this study (see Venkatesh, Brown, & Sullivan, 2016). Researchers use the quantitative method to test a hypothesis (Pindek, Kessler, & Spector, 2017). The intent of this study was not to analyze relationships among variables. Using the quantitative method could have provided information on the financial cost of employee turnover but might not have provided information on strategies that retail sector leaders used successfully in decreasing employee turnover in their organizations (see Kose, Argan, & Cimen, 2015; Šalkovska & Ogsta, 2014). The mixed method provides opportunities to validate data through including both quantitative and qualitative methodologies (Cylus, Glymour, & Avendano, 2015; Kose et al., 2015; Venkatesh et al., 2016).

Research Design

Four qualitative methodological designs are (a) case study, (b) phenomenology, (c) ethnography, and (d) grounded theory. In this study, I used a multiple case study design. A case study design includes an explanation of an existing or on-going phenomenon from an everyday context (Yin, 2018). The case study design involves several sources of evidence that relate to the phenomenon being explored by the researcher (Singh, 2014).

My considerations for this study included the use of the phenomenological and ethnographical research designs to explore the strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover. Ingham-Broomfield (2014) and Roberts (2013) found that researchers use a phenomenological design to gain a comprehensive understanding of social realities that build on individual experiences and the meaning of the identified experiences. According to Ejimabo (2015), researchers use a phenomenological design to determine the meaning of interrelationships of a phenomenon based on information derived from interviews, observations, and shared stories from individuals. The phenomenological design was not suitable for this study because the purpose did not include the exploration of the interrelationships of a phenomenon. According to Knowles (2015), ethnography is the study of cultural groups over an extended length of time. The ethnographic design yields a rich overview of a phenomenon with a specific focus on demographic characteristics common to the group over time (Marshall & Rossman, 2016; Templeton, 2016). An ethnographic design was not appropriate for this study because the central research question did not involve exploring a group in a cultural sharing setting. The grounded theory design is used to create new theories based on data collected from observations and interviews (Zarif, 2012). The focus of this study was not to create a new theory, so the grounded theory design was not appropriate.

Data saturation occurs when no new data or themes emerge from the data being collected (Siegle, Rubenstein, & Mitchell, 2014). Suri (2013) indicated that new information in research includes references, themes, or perspectives on the selected topic. I ensured data saturation by including the comparison of data and themes that emerged from the study until the process revealed no new patterns or themes. Interviews continued with study participants until data saturation was achieved.

Population and Sampling

Lucero et al. (2016) suggested that the population refers to a collection of people with similar characteristics. The population for this study where retail sector leaders who successfully implemented strategies to decrease employee turnover in their organizations. The study used purposeful sampling to recruit retail sector leaders. Elo et al. (2014) stated that the sampling method used by a researcher must align with the purpose of the study. Purposeful criterion sampling involves selecting cases in a study that meet some predetermined criterion of importance (Patton, 2001).

Purposeful criterion-based sampling was used to gather volunteered information from retail sector leaders whose names were derived from the internet. I used purposeful criterion-based sampling to ensure that the study's participants successfully implemented strategies to decrease employee turnover in their organizations. Hyett, Kenny, and Dickson-Swift (2014) suggested that researchers prefer purposeful criterion-based sampling to other sampling methods because they have the advantage of identifying participants who know the topic. Hyett et al. indicated that researchers who depend on participants and provide rich information for in-depth data analysis should use purposeful sampling.

This multiple case study focused on five retail sector leaders. Hyett et al. (2014) further suggested that one-way qualitative researchers explore problems for richer data and better understanding is by concentrating on a smaller number of study participants. It is essential that researchers consider the experiences of study participants when selecting a size. The knowledge and experiences of retail sector leaders was important in the selection of study participants.

Gandy (2015) used a small sample of four to explore small business strategies leaders used to

promote company profitability and sustainability. I obtained data from five retail sector leaders to explore the strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover in their organization.

Data saturation occurred when no new information arose from probing questions and when additional interviews produce no new information for this study (Fusch & Ness, 2015; Spillane, Larkin, Corcoran, Matvienko-Sikar, & Arensman, 2017). In qualitative studies, data saturation often occurs when the size of participants is less than 10, depending on the quality of interview questions (Robinson, 2014).

Participants were eligible for this study when they met the following criteria: (a) are retail sector leaders who agree to participate in this study and (b) have implemented successful strategies for decreasing employee turnover in their organization. Individuals who agree to participate in the study were informed of the study consent forms. Appointments were set with study participants to conduct the semistructured interviews. Retail sector leaders who do not meet the criteria were not be part of the study.

Marshall and Rossman (2016) suggested that participants' interviews should take place in a private setting and a time that is comfortable and familiar with the study participant. Interview sites should be quiet to ensure the quality of digital interviews (Gill, 2016). I asked study participants to identify locations and time suitable for them. I sent the study participants invitation to participate in a telephone interview.

Ethical Research

In obtaining this approval, Walden University requires all willing participants to sign a consent form before participating in this study. Participation in this study was voluntary;

participants could withdraw from the study without penalty at any time. I did not provide any physical or financial incentives for study participants.

The Walden University IRB requires researchers to understand the importance of respecting the privacy and rights of all study participants. Therefore, I masked names of all rental sector leaders who participated in this study to maintain their confidentiality and privacy during the research, analyzing data, and reporting the results. Furthermore, company labels included retail organizations names as YZ Company and participant names such as P1, and, P2 to ensure confidentiality and privacy.

All study participants completed the Walden University Consent Form for Adults. I reviewed the Walden University research confidentiality requirements with all participants to ensure that they are comfortable with the research process. Each participant completed the consent form and they were informed that they could withdraw from the study at any time. Methods of withdrawing from the study included a hand-written, typed, or emailed statement of withdrawal from the participant or a verbal statement of withdrawal. I provided all participants with my Walden University e-mail address, a cell phone number, and a postal address for potential contact. All participants were provided a summary of the study findings and results upon completion of the study upon their request.

Every researcher must comply with ethical guidelines for the treatment of human participants in a study as outlined by the Walden University IRB. Abernethy et al. (2014) and Castleberry (2014) noted that researchers must keep information about study participants in a confidential and private place. The study complied with *The Belmont Report* criteria and ensure that all participants are respected and protected during the research study (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 1979). Yardley, Watts, Pearson, and Richardson (2014) indicated

that researchers must protect the data collected from studies. The study adhered to Walden University IRB guidelines, and I collected data until obtaining approval from the Walden University IRB. The final IRB approval number is 05-28-20-0222369. The soft copy, digital information will be stored on a USB and kept for 5 years until after the research project completes and then destroyed. In a locked facility where only I have access, the hard copy data will be kept for 5 years after the research project and then destroyed.

Data Collection Instruments

As the primary data collection instrument for this qualitative multiple case study, the study includes the use of semistructured interviews with an interview protocol (see Appendix A). Castillo-Montoya (2016) suggested that qualitative researchers should conduct interviews with interview protocols and observation notes when conducting studies. After receiving formal consent for participation from study participants, I conducted interviews at a time that was neutral and conducive to the participants (Martinus & Hedgcock, 2015; Yin, 2018). All study participants given a printed copy of the signed informed consent form with sample interview questions for the study and an explanation of the benefits of the study and participants' rights to withdraw from the study at any time (Ilyushin & Azbel, 2017).

Interview questions (see Appendix B) that are openended provide opportunities for study participants to express personal views when responding to questions (Castillo-Montoya, 2016; Martinus & Hedgcock, 2015). Observation notes were kept during the interview process to document and capture observations made during the interview process (Ponterotto, 2014). Yates and Leggett (2016) suggested that the qualitative researcher should be analytical during all phases of the study. Therefore, I developed codes for data analysis with the observational notes and

themes that emerge during the interview process. Study participants were asked to provide company data that could be relevant to strategies used to decrease employee turnover.

After the interviews, each interview was transcribed into a Microsoft Word document.

Notes were made from themes derived from the literature and codes that emerged from collected data (Yin, 2018). Morse (2015) suggested that qualitative researchers prefer member checking because of providing maximum benefit for the reliability and validity of the study.

Data Collection Technique

In this qualitative multiple case study, I used a digital database as a key for organizing data and for quick referencing of all digital file structures (Yin, 2018). All interviews were recorded with the consent of all study participants, and digital audio files were generated from the recorded interviews. Following each interview, the audio files were downloaded onto a USB. All personal notes taken during the interview were scanned and uploaded into a safe Microsoft One Drive after conversion into portable document files. All paper documents will be maintained in a locked facility; the hard copy data will be kept for 5 years after the research project is complete and then destroyed.

Similarly, all audio files were deleted from the digital recorder after creating electronic audio files of all interviews. Anyan (2013) suggested that organizational techniques are appropriate in a study to maintain the integrity of the collected data. The standard naming convention for this study included (a) the participants number, (b) date of the interview, and (c) data type. All files will be maintained using a chronological naming convention for each participant interview. The information includes participant number, date of the interview, and the data type.

All audio interviews were transcribed into a Microsoft Word document after compiling the digital documents for the study. The naming convention was used as appropriate for the interview folder. The document was sent to the study participants via e-mail after (Harvey, 2015). Changes and recommendations made by study participants were updated in journal notes and reflected in the conclusion of the analysis of the study. After the study, participants in all digital notes were saved to the participant's digital file. Files were burned onto a USB for storage in a personal file lockbox that I assessed during the analysis process, stored for 5 years after the study is complete, and then destroyed.

The interview process of a study should align with the analysis of the data from the interview (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). I used a One Note electronic log to outline all emerging themes from the interviews and compare all notes to the previously transcribed and analyzed interviews. All requests for clarification of questions from study participants were tracked. All information was deleted after consolidation in a removable USB. During the 5-year storage, the data will be available to verified sources with a minimum of 3-day notification request to the researcher.

Laursen (2013) suggested that it is necessary for a researcher to secure and maintain research data for 5 years. I will lock all coding schemes, interview files, notes, password-protected electronic records, and hard copy documents in a secure location for 5 years after the completion of the study. After this 5-year period ends, all data will be destroyed.

Data Organization Technique

Qualitative researchers should use data organization techniques to organize collected data during research, during the data collection process, and the data analysis period of the study (Yin, 2018). Proper collection and organization of data results is essential for a rigorously conducted

study (Yin, 2018). In qualitative studies, researchers use journals and note pads to record information during the interview process (Ross, Mahal, Chinnapen, Kolar, & Woodman, 2014). A qualitative researcher may use any database to organize collected data during research. (Yin, 2018). Researchers must ensure that the confidential information about all study participants and the information they provide during the study are organized and confidential (Vance, 2015). Some qualitative researchers organize data through a filing system (Thomas, 2015), and use NVivo12 software as a data organization and coding application (Owen, 2014). The study used NVivo12 software to help to organize and analyze the data.

I conducted semistructured interviews with five retail sector leaders using the interview questions (see Appendix B). Researchers use research logs to record interviews to ensure appropriate documentation and organization of data (Jacob & Furgerson, 2012). According to Thomas (2017), research logs could also enhance the effectiveness of the research process A Sony Digital Flash Voice Recorder (ICD-PX312) was used to record the raw data, while everything related to the interview questions were written in a research log kept during the interview process. The data organization process for this study included cataloging the collected data and labeling the data by designated participant; to ensure privacy and confidentiality I assigned a unique participant code to each participant.

In this study, I encrypted all computer folders, and external flash drives that contain any information from study participants. A hard copy of the interpretations to the interviews will be filed. Interviews recorded through digital recordings were transcribed into NVivo 12 Plus software and uploaded into the audio files to NVivo. All the information from the study were stored and organized unto the NVivo platform, including reflective journal entries, organizational documents, and any further data All documents were referenced by the name given to them by

retail sector leaders. All organizational documents collected will be in a locked facility; the hard copy data will be kept for 5 years after the research project is complete and then destroyed.

Collected data followed established protocols (Yin, 2018) to ensure to protect the privacy and confidentiality of all study participants (Thomas, 2017). All data collected from the interview process will be secured in a locked fireproof cabinet for 5years; after 5 years, I will destroy all documents. Mitchell and Wellings (2013) and Yin (2018) recommended that researchers must destroy study data after 5 years.

Data Analysis

In qualitative studies, data analysis consists of deconstructing the organized data collected for the study (Yates & Leggett, 2016). Data analysis started during the data collection process and continued as themes emerge from the data collected (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). For this study, the emerging themes were used to outline matching patterns, and data triangulation was used to analyze the data (Yin, 2018). In this study, I used all participants' responses from the semistructured interviews, and member checking of themes that emerge from the will double check with observational notes taken during this interview process.

In this study, the five-step data analysis model recommended by Yin (2018) was used to analyze the data. The five steps are (a) compile the data, (b) deconstruct the data, (c) reassemble the data, (d) interpret the data, and (e) draw conclusions from the data. Furthermore, I used the interview protocol in Appendix A to ensure that the data collected and analyzed remains consistent with the research practices for analysis. The interview protocol cross-checked to ensure that each study participant received the same questions in the same order (Spillane, et al. 2017).

In compiling the data, the interviews were transcribed into new groupings. The second step in the process was the deconstruction of study data, including the pairing of the observation notes with the transcribed interviews. The number of groupings was narrowed at this stage to identify frequent themes and consolidate themes that are similar. According to Haines III and St-Onge (2015), during this process, the researcher places all data with the same coding category together and rearranges the data to march the identified categories. The fourth stage of the data analysis process included the checking of the main themes against the transcripts from the interviews to develop the main themes. The themes were coded and included comments from the notes taken during the interview process. The last stage of the process included the development of critical elements retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover ion their organizations based on the emerging themes and patterns from the analysis (Zheng, Guo, Dong, & Owens, 2015). According to Haines and St-Onge, this process includes discussions on the data analysis findings.

The data analysis process of this study included themes that emerged from the data collection process. The conceptual theme of this preprocessed study guided the initial analysis and codding to include links, fit, and sacrifice (Mitchell et al., 2001; Yin, 2014). I continued to research literature relevant to the study to find new information that provides insight into themes for best practices by retail sector leaders as the information relates to strategies used to decrease employee turnover in their organizations into the data analysis process.

Yazan (2015) suggested that the researcher should ensure the conceptual framework of a study aligns with the methodology and the literature. The conceptual framework that forms the basis for this study was the job embeddedness theory. The study includes a discussion of the results of data analysis in the view of job embeddedness theory. I included the transcription,

review, and coding of all interviews. In reviewing and transcribing the data, it provided significant insight into the coding and data analysis process. Thomas (2017) suggested that researchers gain an in-depth description of a phenomenon through direct involvement in the data analysis process.

Analyzing data for this study provided an opportunity to explore the strategies that retail sector leaders use in decreasing employee turnover in their organizations through a clear representation of the views of study participants. Job embeddedness theory formed the framework for the analysis of the data in this study (Mitchell et al., 2001; Yin, 2018). Themes were developed through the dimensions of the job embeddedness theory that included links, fit, and sacrifice.

Reliability and Validity

Reliability and validity are standards used traditionally to judge the quality of research (Gringeri, Barusch, & Cambron, 2013). According to Frels and Onwuegbuzie (2013), the design and data of a research study should support the ability to ensure findings from the study. Humphry and Heldsinger (2014) expressed the opinion that different methods could enhance the reliability of studies, including using software to analyze interviews, member checking, and the use of different sources of data. Morse (2015) suggested that researchers must address the dependability, credibility, confirmability, and transferability of qualitative studies to ensure reliability and validity.

Dependability

In qualitative studies, dependability refers to the consistency of the responses from the study participants regarding the phenomenon (Elo et al., 2014). Harvey (2015) suggested that

researchers should use dependability to ensure the reliability of qualitative research. Harvey suggested that using triangulation and additional data sources for research data interpretation provides dependable results. In this study, the standard interview protocol in Appendix A, member checking, and observational notes were used for reliability. Morse (2015) suggested that member checking is the preferred data validation method in a qualitative study. Yin (2018) recommended member checking as a method qualitative researcher should use for data validation over transcript review whenever possible. Member checking the data analysis enhanced the reliability of this study (Leung, 2015).

Notes taken during the interviews served as an additional source of information to reflect the body language and nonverbal cues expressed by the participants during the interview process (Gibbons, 2015). The standard interview process used in this study, included member checking, and the observational notes and they enhanced the validity and dependability of the findings of this study.

Creditability

Credibility in research refers to the level of trust other researchers and individuals have in the findings of a study (Nyhan, 2015). Singh (2014) suggested that researcher's bias in the findings of a study reduces when the study is credible. Morse (2015) recommended member checking as an appropriate method that researchers should use to ensure that the study participants believe the findings of the study. Member checking occurred after interviewing the study participants. Participants were provided the opportunity to review the statements they made, enduring the interviews to provide clarification and validation of the themes that emerge from the interviews. Following this process enhanced the credibility of the study.

Transferability

Transferability in research refers to the degree in which the findings of the research can be transferred or applied to other areas beyond the boundaries of the study (Boffa, Moules, Mayan, & Cowie, 2013). The provision of a detailed research context by researchers enhances the transferability of research findings (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Future researchers should be able to replicate the methods and findings of a study (Houghton, Casey, Shaw, & Murphy, 2013).

Confirmability

Confidentiality refers to the degree to which the findings of a qualitative study is verifiable by other researchers (Moon, Brewer, Hanuchowski-Hartley, Adams, & Blackman, 2016). Confirmability in qualitative studies supports the validity and objectivity of the findings (Morse, 2015). Validly assures that the research is accurate and measures the appropriateness of the research questions (Singh, 2014). Maintaining objectivity, coupled with a consistent approach, keeps personal bias from study analysis (Moon et al., 2016). A combination of the interview data, member checking and a complete documentation process consistent with all study participants supports conformity (Harvey, 2015). In qualitative research, scholars use member checking to promote conformity (Fusch & Ness, 2015). This study results reflect the participant's viewpoints presented through a transparent and consistent process.

Data Saturation

Improving validity in qualitative restrict involves data saturation (Yin, 2018).

Researchers can achieve data saturation by interviewing participants until engaged five participants in a detailed discussion on strategies retail sector leaders use in decreasing employee turnover in their organizations. Data saturation occurred when additional interviews of the initial

participants or data collection yielded no new information (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Data saturation can occur when a researcher uses more than 10 or as few as two participants (Fusch & Ness, 2015). A population of five participants was used for this study. Interviews were conducted until no new information or theme emerged (Yin, 2014). Conducting member checking ensured that themes emerge for describing the current strategies used by retail sector leaders in decreasing employee turnover (Morse, 2015; Peake Andrasik et al., 2014).

Transition and Summary

Section 2 of this study contain the purpose statement and includes exploration of the roles, and relationships of the researcher. section 2 emphasized ethics and the data collection process. There was a discussion on the study participants, population. Furthermore, the section contained a detailed description of the data collection instrument, techniques, organization, and analysis of data with an explanation of the research process. An outline of the four aspects of reliability and validity as they apply to the study was be provided. In Section 3, the findings of the study will be presented with a detailed description of the analysis process. Section 3 includes discussion of the study results, as well as the application for professional practice and positive social change. Key findings of the study and recommendation for future research will also be presented in Section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the strategies that some retail sector leaders in the Upstate region of New York use to decrease employee turnover. I gathered data by conducting semistructured, telephone interviews with five retail sector leaders. The interview questions were open ended. In addition to the interviews, I reviewed organization records provided by some of retail sector leaders to help achieve data triangulation. The interviews each lasted for from 50 to 60 minutes and were scheduled at a time preferred by the participants. During the telephone interviews, participants supplied ideas about and insights into strategies they have successfully used in decreasing employee turnover.

After conducting the interviews, I transcribed each of the interviews by paper and pen into a Microsoft Word document. Then, I uploaded the transcripts into NVivo v12 software to help me create codes, find themes, and analyze the data. The participants' identities were concealed by replacing their names in the transcript and analysis of data with P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5. For member checking, I prepared summaries of my interpretation of the participants' responses during the interviews and sent them to each of the participants to review to ensure the accuracy of my analysis. Section 3 includes the presentation of findings, applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action, and recommendations for further research. I conclude Section 3 with my reflections and research study conclusions.

Presentation of the Findings

I conducted semistructured interviews to gain insight into the strategies retail sector leaders have successfully used in decreasing employee turnover in their organizations. To gain a

better understanding of strategies, I framed the study using Mitchell et al.'s (2001) job embeddedness theory. Based on analysis of the data gathered, the following four major themes emerged: (a) compensation; (b) leadership communication; (c) training; and (d) rewards, recognition, and praise.

Theme 1: Compensation

Compensation is vital in decreasing employee turnover (Syahreza, Lumbanraja, Dalimunthe, & Absah, 2017). All the participants noted that financial compensation is a factor in employee turnover. P2 highlighted that the duties and responsibilities of the retail sector leader have become more challenging and demanding with COVID-19. P2 stated, "while the wages I pay my employees are comparable with those within the retail sector, the wages are also higher than those offered for less stressful duties and nonessential positions." All five participants interviewed for this study noted that compensation helps employees to be happy and committed to their organizations. According to Pouramini and Fayyazi (2015), when employees do not receive wages they consider being fair, their motivation and commitment to their employer decrease.

As a theme in this study, compensation aligns with Mitchell et al.'s (2001) job embeddedness theory in that the perceived compatibility between employees' characteristics and the conditions of their work environment affects employees' willingness to remain in an organization. P3 stated that retail employees stay with their store because of the income generated to meet their financial obligations. According to P4 Some employees take positions within the retail sector because of the wages and not because they want to work in the retail sector .Retail employees sometimes leave their employers because of wages (Kossivi, Xu, & Kalgora, 2016). P1 stated, "I pay all my employees very well. Good compensation makes them remain here, and

they give their very best to my company. I go far and above what other stores do." P1 further reported that "one way to decrease employee turnover is to offer the employees the pay that is above what the next retail outlet is paying. Pay them well, and they will stay with you for a long time." P2 reported that "employees are looking for a package that comes with some basic benefits that translates into some form of compensation." P1 and P2 both agreed that employees would stay with the employer if they had a compensation package that was not comparable to those retail stores in their store's vicinity.

P4 reported that it is impossible to pay their employees what they are worth because they go above the call of duty when dealing with customers. P4 stated, "Without their relationship with customers, COVID-19 would have closed us down." According to P4, "I continue to do everything to make sure my employees are well taken care of because they are like my family members."

The strategies mentioned by P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 are in agreement with the views of Labrague et al. (2018) that employees tend to stay with their employers when wages are competitive. Barrick et al. (2015) supported this view as well stating that supplying excellent and competitive wages plays a significant role in decreasing employee turnover in retail organizations. According to P4, management tries to aid employees in any way possible. For example, employees who need quick cash can receive money before their payday. P5 reported that some of the store's employees receive credit from the store to buy things that they need. P1, P2, and P3 said that sometimes they provide lunch for their employees who do not have money to buy lunch, especially on off pay period weeks as their employees get paid every 2 weeks. P2 noted that "it is all part of the wage and compensation unwritten package."

Exit interviews are essential to P4. They are conducted whenever an employee leaves the employment of the store. Based on the exit interviews conducted, P4 reported that more than half of the employees that quit the organization leave because a retail organization adjacent to their company is paying more. According to P4, "pay has a significant role in an employee's decision to leave an organization." P5 noted that "Giving employees competitive wages and incentives can boost their morale and make them want to give the employer everything they have." P1 further reported,

The retail sector is very competitive, and you need to be smart with the decisions on how you pay your employees. I am always trying to find out what the next person is paying so I can match them. I also use all methods to supply other benefits to my employees. They stay with me because of the money and helps them get from me. However, sometimes, I lose them to other retail store owners. I always ask them what they want and try to motivate them in many ways. I try to find out what they like and try to provide better incentives based on what they like.

Providing retail employees with satisfactory wages, benefits, and a supportive work environment could decrease employee turnover in organizations (Barrick et al. 2015). All participants mentioned pay as an incentive for retention of employees and stressed the need to develop strategies for decreasing employee turnover with wage enhancement as a critical part but not the most desired. All participants reported that they implemented different approaches that included supplying other financial incentives like a holiday bonus, birthday bonus, and years of service bonus to keep their employees. Retail sector leaders whose organizations are financially viable should use a variety of compensation strategies to decrease employee turnover.

Theme 2: Leadership Communication

Communication by organizational leaders plays a crucial role in decreasing employee turnover in organizations (Syahreza, Lumbanraja, Dalimunthe, & Absah, 2017). P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 reported that they used leadership communication to decrease employee turnover. P1 and P2 said "if the communication is coming from you as the leader of the team, everyone takes it seriously, and they appreciate you for communicating with them." P4 and P5 reported that they had used an open-door policy to enhance open communication in their organizations. P4 noted that "it does not cost you too much to communicate, but everyone feels comfortable and accepted when you let them know what is going on and when you define your expectations by communicating them." According to Vladuteseu (2015), communication from an organizational leader could supply clues for employee turnover and assist leaders in developing strategies that could decrease employee turnover. All participants noted the importance of having an open dialogue with employees. P1 stated that "I meet with my employees daily, of course with social distancing." P2 indicated that,

because I communicate with all my employees every day, I have a good and personal relationship with them, and I know how they feel. The problems they might be having, and they remain with me because of that relationship. Having a good relationship with your employees is important.

Adil and Awais (2016) said that interpersonal relationships with employees could help decrease employee turnover, which is consistent with Patel and Hamlin's (2015) recommendation for organizational leaders to develop enhanced open-door policies when it comes to communicating with employees. P4 and P5 noted that providing clear directions to employees could help make the employee feel comfortable and valued by the organization. P2 has a written

policy on face-to-face communication and noted that the written policy has been very effective in decreasing employee turnover in our organization. P2 further added,

Even with computers and social media, I talk to my employees. I sit down with them at least once a week, and we discuss issues about their work. Sometimes we discuss other things away from work; I like doing that because employees sometimes have problems that they would like to speak to discuss.

P3 noted that there is a system in place at the organization where employees can anonymously leave feedback on the operations of the organization. P4 stated, "I treat them like members of my family and allow them to discuss issues with me privately without their names mentioned. I address the work-related issues with everyone in public." P5 reported that there are policies and procedures on communication expectations, and the policy and procedures are shared with every employee. P5 shared that all conversations with employees are documented, explaining:

I keep notes during my conversation with my employees. Sometimes, I make it very formal, and I share those notes with them to make sure we are all on the same page. My employees stay with me because they know I am straight forward with my communication.

P1 stated, "I spend a lot of time communicating with employees and that the communication starts from the beginning of the day. The communication has produced significant results by making the organization a place that employees enjoy." P1 noted that one of the strategies the organization has used over the years to decrease employee turnover has been to have open and communication that is effective with the employees. P3 postulated that communication is not only between employees and leaders of the organization but that the

discussion is also encouraged between employees. P3 holds weekly staff meetings and goes around the room, asking employees questions, adding that:

I use the opportunity of a general staff meeting to get input from all the employees and to get to know them. Sometimes you get to know employees with the type of questions they ask during staff meetings. Some of them are good, and they are interested in the organization.

P4 and P5 reported that effective leadership communication could decrease employee turnover if communication is done promptly and honestly. P4 noted that "employees know when you are not honest, they look at you funny." P5 reported that "you have to be real and tell them what you need to tell them looking at their faces." P4 went on to state that "I do not hide behind the e-mail, I come on the floor and work with everyone, and I communicate with them while on the floor."

Patel and Hamlin (2015) advocated effective communication between leaders and their employees. They found that organizational leaders who had open-door policies and interacted with their employees daily decreased employee turnover in their organizations. Supporting Patel and Hamlin's findings, Lu et al's (2016) results showed it is essential to involve employees when developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in organizations. Communicating organizational goals and objectives to employees is one way that organizational leaders can decrease turnover among their employees (Dubey et al., 2016). Ineffective communication from an organizational leader could result in feelings of diminished organizational trust, which are precursors to instances of employee turnover (Marasi et al., 2016). When organizational leaders communicate effectively with their employees, they get ideas from employees and the views and

ideas they receive from employees could positively affect the organization (Van De Voorde & Beijer, 2014).

Theme 2 of leadership communication aligns with the fit, link, and sacrifice of job embeddedness theory. Communication promotes a level of connection between an employee and the organization and enhances the relationship between the leader and their employees. Effective communication between leaders and their employees is one of the most effective strategies for decreasing employee turnover (Lu et al., 2016). Employees comply at a higher rate when they are involved in all work and when the employer seeks their input in the decision-making process (Deery & Jago, 2015). All the participants agreed that leadership communication is essential in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. All study participants indicated that they developed a better relationship with their employees when they had an open-door communication policy. Organizational leaders may enhance trust and transparency among their employees by supplying transparent and effective communication (Qazi et al., 2015).

Relationship between employees and their supervisors enhances the effectiveness of an employee's link to an organization (Marasi et al., 2016). The formal and informal relationships that employees have with other employees within their organization are essential in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover (Allen et al., 2016). The participants in this study communicated the organizational goals to employees regularly. Nicholas et al. (2016) suggested that employees who fit into the mission and vision of their organizations become tied to the organization and have a lower probability of leaving the employer. Additionally, all study participants indicated that the employees felt comfortable with management when the communication came from the leaders of the organization. Organizational leaders play significant

roles in determining employees' perceptions of sacrifice and what they might lose if they were to leave the employer (Erkutlu & Chafra, 2017).

Theme 3. Training and Advancement Opportunities

The third theme that appeared from the data collected was training and advancement opportunities. Bush (2017) suggested that one-way organizational leaders can decrease employee turnover is by providing employees training relevant to their jobs. P1 reported:

We have what we call Training Tuesday. It supplies us the opportunity to provide all our employees training that is relevant to their work. We have been able to reduce employee turnover because of the comprehensive training that is provided by our organization.

Everyone could move up if they are trained.

P2 noted that training starts as soon as the employee is hired and further stressed "without training, the employee does not know better." P3 pointed out that the organization spent the past 3 weeks supplying training to all employees as the new norm requires curbside pickup. P2 and P3 contended that training employees has been effective in decreasing employee turnover in their organization and has given employees advancement opportunities. The literature discussed in Section 1 supports this. For instance, Zhang et al. (2013) suggested that the high rate of employee turnover in the organizations could be because of a lack of advancement opportunities in the sector, inadequate training for employees, and reduced employee compensation packages. P4 noted that training enhances skills and develops employees. P4 further noted,

We are in a new world; things must change, and we must change the retail sector with all the changes around us. You cannot survive the changes if you do not bring your employees with you, and your competitors know your employees. Customers appreciate a knowledgeable workforce. We must provide training for our employees.

P5 noted that there are many advantages to training new employees. The organization ensures that all employees have a training manual, and the employees receive training weekly. All new employees receive before they start work. P5 reported that the organization has a comprehensive new employee training program that covers organizational policies, mission, and vision. A review of available organizational documents indicated that the organization provides a 2-week orientation program for all new employees. P5 further reported, "Sometimes, I bring people from the other organizations to come here and conduct training because sometimes it is better for them to hear from others than my training staff." According to P5, the organization invests in training because training present staff costs less than to train new employees. The information provided by P5 is consistent with the literature in Section 1. There is a cost for training a new employee when an employee leaves an organization, and new employees make mistakes that could affect productivity (Crome, Shaw, & Baillie, 2016).

All the participants noted that training employees lead to skill enhancement and job satisfaction. According to P5, "We provide training to all our employees, including managers, and we make sure it begins from the day they are employed." P5 noted that the organization keeps a training grid, and every employee must complete a certain number of training hours a year. Annual performance reviews are tied to employee training because the organization focuses on a well-trained workforce. P5 further noted that "a workforce that is not trained is a time bomb waiting to explode." P3, P4, and P5 all stressed the importance of training and educating retail employees and the concept of employee professional growth within the retail sector, which had effectively decreased employee turnover. P4 noted,

We instituted a comprehensive onboarding system a few years back, and that system has become very useful in the last few months. The onboarding system was based on a specific computer program that makes all employees take the training online at their own time, and they get paid for the training. The flexibility of employee training has been effective in decreasing employee turnover.

The views expressed by P4 are supported by Jang, Kim, and Yoo (2017) who said that having training opportunities for improvement not only helps employees to be competitive, but it also helps to decrease employee turnover. P1, P2, P3, P4, P5 mentioned that they conduct inhouse training for all their employees. P1 reported, another Senior Manager or I do this training, and they provide opportunities for skill development and prepare our employees for challenges ahead in the industry like we just had." P2 and P3 noted that in-house training has been beneficial. According to P3, the organization also provides online training through a portal for some of its employees. P1 and P2 said that the on-the-job training as one way to decrease employee turnover in their organization because the training serves as a means of empowerment to their employees. A review of P3's organizational documents revealed that the organization has a well-organized training program with curriculum and models. All employees sign a sheet after all training. P3 noted that the training was mandatory, and all employees need to attend all sessions.

P5 reported that the organization developed a program called The Rising Star Training Program for employees interested in advancing in the organization. According to P5, many employees come into the organization; they take advantage of the training opportunities offered and are promoted to higher positions within the organization. P5 stated, "We provide all our employees with training and career advancement, and they remain with us." According to P5, the

organization developed a tuition reimbursement program that enables employees to enhance their skills in many areas by taking college classes. After the college classes, the employees stay with the organization for a specified period. P1, P2, P3, and P4 all emphasized the importance of employee training and workplace professional advancement in decreasing employee turnover. P1 stated, "we develop our employees so that they can be future leaders of our organization." P2 stated, "A workforce that is trained is a workforce that stays with the organization." P3 stated, "when you train your employees, they grow with you, and they are attached to your organization." The literature in Section 1 supports this idea. For example, Xu (2013) suggested that the high rate of employee turnover in the organizations could be because of a lack of advancement opportunities in the sector, inadequate training for employees, and reduced employee compensation packages.

The theory of job embeddedness aligns with the responses of all the participants about training and advancement opportunities. Embedded employees may have a chance to develop the skills they need to advance professionally within an organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). An employee with a job fit may have better opportunities to develop their skills through the organization (Mitchell et al., 2001). Employee training and advancement strategies have been effective in decreasing employee turnover in retail organizations.

Theme 4: Reward and Recognition

The interview revealed that P1, P2, P3, P4, and P5 used giving rewards as a strategy for decreasing employee turnover. As discussed in Section 1, employers who offered monetary rewards to their employees received a higher level of loyalty and commitment from the employees, and this resulted in decreased employee turnover (A yuninnisa & Saptoto, 2015). Gallus and Frey (2016) postulated that formal and informal reward programs are essential in

developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Organizational leaders who rewarded their employees for good work and meeting targets also decreased employee turnover (Gigliotti & Ruben, 2017). P1 views the role as an organizer and believes leaders should pay mangers who should reward employees for good work at all times. P1 implemented an employee of the month program in the organization. The employee of the month program is a program that recognizes employees for the excellent work they do. According to P1, the employees of the month get a gift card and a certificate on the wall for everyone to see, including the customers. P1 further stated, "I found this simple system to be very rewarding, the employees love it, and we have a formal ceremony here at the organization to recognize them." P1 shared that other employees choose the employee of the month through a vote, and the picture of the employee is taken and put up on the wall of the entrance to the organization. P1 started the importance of recognizing people that do a good job. P1 further noted

Some of the employees are young just graduated from college, and this is their first real job, so they need to be recognized when they do a good job. They see their picture on the wall and think of that when they think of leaving the organization.

P2 highlighted the importance of rewarding and recognizing retail sector employees. P2 noted, "I recognize my employees every day, and they come out every day to work for the organization. As essential employees during these difficult times, they come out to work, and I thank them every day." P2 acknowledged that working in the retail sector could be stressful, especially when dealing with customers. P2 stressed that retail sector leaders must make it a duty to thank their employees. P2 emphasized that employees should be acknowledged for the excellent work that they do, and they should be rewarded in different ways.

P3 reported that working in the retail sector sometimes feels like a thankless job because of the nature of the sector. Finding simple ways to say *thank you* to employees is important. P3 further reported, "It does not cost you money to say it. Look at them in the face and say, *thank you*." P3 added that sometimes, I would call the employees on their cell phone after work and express my thanks to them for the excellent work they did during the day. P3 reported, I started a program at my organization 10 years ago called Gratitude Thursday. Gratitude Thursday is when all the top leaders of the organization walk around and express gratitude to all employees; and one employee is recognized during this one-hour ceremony. Other employees can acknowledge and thank fellow employees who helped them fulfill their goals for the week. P3 stated,

Sometimes, it is the recognition employees get from their colleagues that is more important to the employees, but the recognition from their manager means a lot to them. Employees want to feel appreciated and recognized all the time. You must give it to them because they deserve it.

P4 contended that employees expect to be recognized and rewarded by their leaders "it is essential to them." According to P4, recognition and reward have been effective in decreasing employee turnover in their organization. Employees appreciate you when you reward them P4 noted.

P5 reported that employees need to be motivated, and recognition and rewards motivate employees to work hard and remain with an organization. P5 said that different ways to recognize employees are essential. P5 said, "the organization has a suggestion box for customers to leave messages, and there is a toll-free number for customers to call to leave remarks about services they have received from their employees." Employees that get written recommendations from customers sometimes get rewarded with money, gift cards, a day off with pay. P5 finds that

employees are very grateful when they are recognized and want to continue doing good things. P5 said, "employees leave early, and I pay them for the entire shift as a reward." P5 reported, "sometimes, they will perform extraordinary duties, and they will ask the customer to call management to tell management what they did so that they will be recognized and rewarded." P5 touted the recognition program in the organization and stressed that the program has been effective in decreasing employee turnover in the organization. A review of organizational documents reveals that the organization has a written recognition and reward program that is left to leadership discretion.

As discussed in Section 1, when organizational leaders reward employees for their skills and dedication, employee turnover can be decreased (Prouska, Psychogios, & Rexhepi, 2016; Siyanbola & Gilman, 2017). Employers who offer monetary rewards to their employees received a higher level of loyalty and commitment from the employees, and that results in decreased employee turnover (Ayuninnisa & Saptoto, 2015). Retail organizational leaders may decrease employee turnover in their organization by developing strategies that reward and recognize employee performance and accomplishments.

Theme 4 supports the three dimensions of the job embeddedness theory. Organizational leaders may create a positive environment in their organization by developing rewards and recognition programs and creating an environment that recognizes employee performance through recognition and awards. Employees may feel more positive, appreciated, and productive in a work environment that understands their work and rewards them. Kossivi and Kalgora (2016) postulated that the more valued and appreciated employees feel, the more likely they will set up their link to a perceived sacrifice, which may lead to employee embeddedness.

Theme 4 supports the dimensions of job embeddedness. Retail organizational leaders may use employee recognition and appreciation programs to create a positive and productive work environment. When employees feel valued, the more likely they will feel linked to the organization (Kossivi, Xu, & Kalgora, 2016).

Applications to Professional Practice

The application of this study to professional practice includes offering retail sector leaders with strategies that have been effective in decreasing employee turnover. There is a need for retail sector leaders to understand the strategies that have been effective in decreasing employee turnover. Employee turnover is one of the significant problems retail sector leaders contend with regularly because of the cost associated with the replacement and training of new employees (Hur, 2013). Mekraz and Raghava (2016) postulated that an increase in employee turnover affects the retail sector leaders in delivering quality services.

Findings from this study add to the existing body of knowledge detailing the importance of developing policies that enhance the factors that contribute to decreasing employee turnover. Additionally, consistent with the findings of Qazi et al. (2015), organizational leaders need to develop internal control measures that will focus on strategies that decrease the need for an employee to leave the employer. Consistent with the Lu et al.'s (2016) proposal, findings from this study reveal the need for organizational leaders to support their employees by providing growth and reward opportunities, including adequate compensation. Furthermore, the results of this study are consistent with Labrague et al. (2018) research where findings show that reward is a crucial component in developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Like the results presented in this study, Patel and Hamlin (2015) found that organizational leaders who had opendoor policies and interacted with their employees' daily decreased employee turnover in their

organizations. Brewster and Brauer (2016) was of the opinion effective communication depends on two people talking to one another, organizational leaders should engage their employees to maximize flow of communication. Tanius, Pheng, Kasim, and Yulia (2017) reported that when organizational leaders supply feedback to their employees, they are engaging them in positive communication strategies.

Furthermore, findings from this study add to the existing body of knowledge because it relates to the significance of developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in organizations. Akunda, Chen, and Gikiri's (2018) postulated that carefully designed policies that are aimed at decreasing turnover in organizations are effective in decreasing turnover in organizations. De Vito, Brown, Bannister, Cianci, and Mujtaba (2018) emphasized the importance of communication between organizational leaders and their employees in the development of strategies for decreasing employee turnover. Furthermore, consistent with Antoni, Baeten, Perkins, Shaw, and Vartiainen's (2017) research, this study shows that appreciating employees is one of the critical components in developing strategies for employee turnover.

Retail sector leaders who develop training and advancement programs may decrease turnover, which is consistent with the findings of this study. Bush (2017) suggested that one-way organizational leaders can decrease employee turnover is by providing employees training relevant to their jobs. The significance of training and advancement opportunities, as reflected by comments from study participants, is consistent and may assist retail sector professionals as a strategy for decreasing turnover in their organizations.

Although this study focused on a small number of retail organizational leaders in Upstate New York, findings related to strategies to decrease employee turnover in the retail sector may be transferable. This study's professional implication is to provide retail sector leaders with strategies they may use to use actionable strategies for decreasing employee turnover and increase productivity and financial sustainability.

Implications for Social Change

The retail sector plays an essential role in economic development, the social and economic welfare of communities, and new employment opportunities in communities. This is due, in part, to the development of strategies that decrease employee turnover in the retail sector. Decreasing employee turnover is a fundamental part of the retail sector that affects the financial sustainability of the sector. This qualitative multiple case study is focused on retail sector leaders who have developed strategies for decreasing employee turnover. This studies implications for positive social change may include higher community employment, increases in the standard of living within the community, and supply communities the ability to generate more tax dollars for social and community programs.

Retail sector organizations supply employment in communities. Community members with sustainable employment may be able to live a more financially secure and stable life, increasing their standard of living. Additionally, the continued operation of retail organizations in communities generates more tax dollars that contribute to the growth of the local economy. Local government authorities may use tax revenue received from retail organizations to supply services to communities and improve community facilities.

Organizational leaders across the retail sector may employ the strategies named in this study to decrease employee turnover in their organizations. For example, compensating employees more for the work they do may allow them to afford the basic needs of their families. Mehrnoosh and Jouzaryan (2016) postulated that leaders reactions to employee turnover could

lead to unemployment and slow the economy. The knowledge of strategies for decreasing employee turnover in retail organizations may help retail sector leaders to support social change initiatives in their communities.

Recommendations for Action

The findings and recommendations from this inquiry may supply leaders of the retail sector the knowledge and ability to implement strategies to decrease employee turnover. By applying the procedures shared by the participants, other retail sector leaders may be able to decrease employee turnover, which might improve their productivity and sustainability and enhance their financial viability. I have four recommendations for actions that may help retail sector leaders reduce employee turnover: (a) competitive compensation and benefits, (b) leadership communication, (c) training and advancement opportunities, and (d) reward and recognition.

Compensation and Benefits

Retail sector organizational leaders should motivate their employees by offering a compensation package that may enhance their satisfaction and enhance employee loyalty to the organization. Solaja et al. (2016) postulated that morale and employee compensation were essential in decreasing employee turnover in organizations. When wages are competitive with other sectors, retail employees tend to remain with their employers (Labrague et al., 2018). Wages are essential to employees; employees want compensation for the work that they do; however, in the long-term, employees are more interested is in the things that help them feel respected and recognized. When an employee is happy with their compensation package, their tendency to leave the employer is low.

Enhancing the Flow of Communication

Patel and Hamlin (2015) found that organizational leaders who had open-door policies and interacted with their employees daily decreased employee turnover in their organizations. Patel and Hamlin suggested leaders and their employee's need effective communication between them. Retail sector leaders should implement leadership communication practices that will enhance the flow of communication between leaders and their employees to decrease employee turnover. Supportive administrators reduce employees' stress by supplying continuous guidance and feedback to their followers (Buzeti, Klun, & Stare, 2016). Effective communication provides leaders the opportunity to guide employees relative to the organizational goals, set basis expectations to the employees, and enforce organizational policies.

Training and Advancement Opportunities

Training and advancement opportunities may help employees understand their duties and leadership expectations. Retail sector organization leaders should develop training and advancement opportunities for their employees that focus on skill enhancement. Retail sector leaders should try to understand their employees' skill needs, especially for professional advancement. Bush (2017) suggested that organizational leaders should develop strategies that include providing adequate training programs for employees so that they are competent in performing their duties for decreasing employee turnover.

Designing a Reward and Recognition

Retail sector leaders should implement employee rewards and recognition programs. Showing employees that they are appreciated and valued using intrinsic and extrinsic means is an investment that leaders should make for their employees that may decrease employee turnover. Rewarding employees for their performance may lead to a boost in morale and increase organizational performance and productivity. Organizational leaders who rewarded their employees for good work and meeting organizational goals also decreased employee turnover (Gigliotti & Ruben, 2017; Lu et al., 2016; Taneja, Sewell, & Odom, 2015). When organizational leaders reward employees for their skills and dedication, employee turnover can be decreased (Prouska, Psychogios, & Rexhepi, 2016; Siyanbola & Gilman, 2017). All the participants in this study implemented different reward programs based on situations unique to their employees. Retail sector leaders should use all the means available to them and their organizations to develop a reward and recognition program that is culturally appropriate for their organization.

To promote the distribution of the findings of this study, the dissemination of this research will occur through several methods. This study will be available through the ProQuest/UMI dissertation database for future scholars and others. I will discuss the findings of

this study with other business leaders in business forums, organizational training programs, and other leadership forums. I will also write articles for publication in entrepreneurial magazines.

Recommendations for Further Research

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover. The study included three principle limitations: the first limitation of this study is that the study primarily focused on strategies that only retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover. The second limitation is that I sought voluntary participation from individuals who identified themselves as sector leaders of retail organizations. The third limitation was that the data collected for the study came from interviews, which required honesty from the study participants. From these limitations, further research could be conducted in other industries, random selection of leaders, and adding into the data collection could be observations of the workplace. Decreasing employee turnover is a critical part of financial sustainability in retail organizations. Further research may extend to the impact of employee turnover in profit-making, the cost of onboarding new employees, and the impact of turnover on organizational productivity. Additionally, further research could focus on organizational documents, selection of participants based on recommendations from organizations, and a different method of data collection.

Reflections

The Walden University Doctor of Business Administration Program has been very challenging but has been an exciting experience in many ways. This process pushed me to the limits, and at times, I do not know how I completed the journey. During the program, I had the opportunity to study under the direction of many experienced scholars, one of whom was Dr.

Kate Andrews, my committee chair. Having the opportunity to work with Dr. Andrews is an experience that will remain with me forever. Dr. Andrews was committed to my success and did whatever it took to pull me along, even when it was difficult to do so. My initial driving force for pursuing a doctoral degree was to be an example to my children and to show them that even at my age, everything was still possible and that if I can finish anything I set my mind to do, they too can be like me. I chose to research the strategies that retail sector leaders used to decrease employee turnover in their organizations to understand the operations in retail organizations. Participants of this multiple qualitative study supplied knowledge and understanding of the strategies they have successfully used in their organizations to decrease employee turnover. It was initially difficult to find retail sector leaders who were willing to take part in this study, but I continued to seek participants. I appreciate those who volunteered to take part in this study.

During the program, I attended two academic residences and had the opportunity to visit Paris during one of the residences with my family. I met with some professionals and colleagues, some of whom are still my friends to date and will remain my friends forever. The weekly discussions during the program provided me an opportunity to share my view on a variety of issues and to network with colleagues around the world.

Despite the variety of views shared by the participants on the phenomenon, the findings of the study reveal that there are similarities in methods used to decrease employee turnover. Thus, developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover in the retail sector is essential for business sustainability. My understanding of strategies for decreasing employee turnover in the retail sector will help me address the issues I face in leadership positions.

Conclusion

Employee turnover has adverse effects on organizations (Stamp & Thoren, 2016). While there are several direct and indirect consequences, organizations lose billions of dollars annually because of employee turnover (McManus & Mosca, 2015). The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies retail sector leaders from the Upstate region of New York in the United States use to decrease employee turnover. I formed my argument on the job embeddedness theory. I used the theory to explore why retail employees remain in their organization and how retail sector leaders decrease employee turnover. Retail sector leaders shared with me the strategies they have successfully used in decreasing turnover. As the retail sector is an essential sector that is mostly community-based and people-centered, findings from this study confirm the need for retail organizational leaders to implement policies and procedures that ensure that the organization requirements are aligned with the priorities of the organization. The findings from this study show the need for a diversified approach to developing strategies for decreasing employee turnover with compensation, leadership communication, training, and advancement opportunities.

Employee turnover is an essential function of business operations. Still, leaders must look to understand the reasons for turnover and develop strategies for decreasing turnover to ensure the financial stability of their organizations. Retail sector leaders must develop strategies that decrease employee turnover. Developing and implementing strategies for decreasing employee turnover may not only decrease employee turnover but may also boost the financial viability of retail organizations.

Referencies

- A'yuninnisa, R., & Saptoto, R. (2015). The effects of pay satisfaction and affective commitment on turnover intention. *International Journal of Research Studies in Psychology*, 4, 57-70. doi:10.5861/ijrsp.2015.1055
- Abbaspour, A., & Noghreh, A. (2015). Examine the relationship between organizational culture and job satisfaction of tourism bank employees in Iran. *International Journal of Academic Research*, 7, 63-68. doi:10.7813/2075-4124.2015/7-1/B.11
- Abernethy, A. P., Capell, W. H., Aziz, N. M., Ritchie, C., Prince-Paul, M., Bennett, R. E., & Kutner, J. S. (2014). Ethical conduct of palliative care research: Enhancing communication between investigators and Institutional Review Boards. *Journal of Pain & Symptom Management*, 48, 1211-1221. doi:10.1016/j.jpainsymman.2014.05.005
- Abid, G., & Butt, T. H. (2017). Expressed turnover intention: Alternate method for knowing turnover intention and eradicating common method bias. *International Letters of Social and Humanistic Sciences*, 78, 18-26. doi:10.18052/www.scipress.com/ILSHS.78.18
- Abma, T. A., & Stake, R. E. (2014). Science of the particular: An advocacy of naturalistic case study in health research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24, 1150-1161. doi:10.1177/1049732314543196
- Adams, D. P., & Miles, T. P. (2013). The application of *Belmont Report* principles to policy development. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, 39, 16-21. doi:10.3928/00989134-20131028-07
- Adiele, E. E., & Abraham, M. N. (2013). Achievement of Abraham Maslow's needs hierarchy theory among teachers: Implications for human resource management in the secondary

- school system in Rivers State. *Journal of Curriculum & Teaching*, 2, 140-144. doi:10.5430/jct. v2n1p140
- Afsar, B., & Badir, Y. F. (2016). Person-organization fit, perceived organizational support, and organizational citizenship behavior: The role of job embeddedness. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 15, 252-278. doi:10.1080/15332845.2016.1147936
- Aisha, A. N., & Hardjomidjojo, P. (2013). Effects of working ability, working condition, motivation, and incentive on employee's multi-dimensional performance. *International Journal of Innovation, Management, and Technology*, 4, 605-609. doi:10.7763/IJIMT. 2013.V4.470
- Akgunduz, Y., & Sanli, S. C. (2017). The effect of employee advocacy and perceived organizational support on job embeddedness and turnover intention in hotels. *Journal of Hospitality and Tourism Management*, 31, 118-125. doi:10.1016/j.jhtm.2016.12.002
- Akunda, D., Chen, Z., & Gikiri, S. N. (2018). Role of HRM in talent retention with evidence. *Journal of Management and Strategy*, 9, 8-19. doi:10.5430/jms.v9n2p8
- Ali, A. A., Edwin, O., & Tirimba, O. I. (2015). Analysis of extrinsic rewards and employee satisfaction: Case of Somtel Company in Somaliland. *International Journal of Business*Management & Economic Research, 6, 417-435. Retrieved from http://www.ijbmer.com/
- Allen, D. G., Peltokorpi, V., & Rubenstein, A. L. (2016). When 'embedded' means 'stuck': Moderating effects of job embeddedness in adverse work environments. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 101, 1670-1686. doi:10.1037/apl0000134
- Alshanbri, N., Khalfan, M., Noor, M., Dutta, D., Zhang, K., & Maqsood, T. (2015). Employees' turnover, knowledge management, and human resource management: A case of Nitaqat

- program. *International Journal of Social Science and Humanity*, *5*, 701-706. doi:10.7763/ijssh. 205.v5.54
- Al-Shboul, M. (2017). Infrastructure framework and manufacturing supply chain agility: The role of delivery dependability and time to market. *Supply Chain Management*, 22, 172-185. doi:10.1108/SCM-09-2016-0335
- Amankwaa, A., & Anku-Tsede, O. (2015). Linking transformational leadership to employee turnover: The moderating role of alternative job opportunity. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 6, 19-29. doi:10.5430/ijba.v6n4p19
- Antoni, C. H., Baeten, X., Perkins, S. J., Shaw, J. D., & Vartiainen, M. (2017). Reward management: Linking employee motivation and organizational performance. *Journal of Personnel Psychology*, *16*, 57-60. doi:10.1027/1866-5888/a000187
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report, 18*, 1-9. Retrieved from https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Archibald, M. M., Radil, A. I., Xiaozhou, Z., & Hanson, W. E. (2015). Current mixed methods practice in qualitative research: A content analysis of leading journals. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *14*, 5-33. Retrieved from https://journals.sagepub.com/home/ijq
- Atalic, H., Can, A., & Canturk, N. (2016). Herzberg's motivation-hygiene theory applied to high school teachers in Turkey. *European Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies*, 1, 90-95. doi:10.26417/ejms. v1i4.p90-97

- Awang, A., Amir, A. R., Osman, W., & Mara, U. T. (2013). Job behavioral factors and turnover intention: A case study at Sime Darby Property Limited. *International Journal of Advances in Management and Economics*, 2, 103-115. Retrieved from http://www.managementjournal.info
- Barrick, M. R., Thurgood, G. R., Smith, T. A., & Courtright, S. H. (2015). Collective organizational engagement: Linking motivational antecedents, strategic implementation, and firm performance. *Academy of Management Journal*, *58*, 111-135. doi:10.5465/amj.2013.0227
- Bauer, J. (2012). Exploration of organizational sustainability and employee job satisfaction (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3509723)
- Baumann, S. L. (2015). Nursing in Switzerland struggling to maintain quality and ideals. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, 28, 74-79. doi:10.1177/089431841455861
- Ben Slimane, N. (2017). Motivation and job satisfaction of pharmacists in four hospitals in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Health Management*, 19, 39-72. doi:10.1177/0972063416682559
- Bevan, M. T. (2014). A method of phenomenological interviewing. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24, 136-144. doi:10.1177/1049732313519710
- Bin Shmailan, A. S. (2016). The relationship between job satisfaction, job performance, and employee engagement: An explorative study. *Issues in Business Management and Economics*, 4, 1-8. doi:10.15739/IBME.16.001
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2018). *Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map* from beginning to end [E-reader version]. Retrieved from http://books.google.com

- Boffa, J., Moules, N., Mayan, M., & Cowie, R. L. (2013). More than just great quotes: An introduction to the Canadian Tri-Council's qualitative requirements. *The Canadian Journal of Infectious Diseases & Medical Microbiology*, 24, 103-108. doi:10.1155/2013/253931
- Bond, G. R., Drake, R. E., McHugo, G. J., Peterson, A. E., Jones, A. M., & Williams, J. (2014).

 Long-term sustainability of evidence-based practices in community mental health agencies. *Administration & Policy in Mental Health & Mental Health Services Research*,

 41, 228-236. doi:10.1007/s10488-012-0461-5\
- Borah, N., & Malakar, B. G. (2015). Impact of job embeddedness on leave intention. *SCMS Journal of Indian Management*, 12, 83-91. doi:10.5897/AJBM10.466
- Brewster, Z. W., & Brauer, J. R. (2016). Different service, same experience: Documenting the subtlety of modern racial discrimination in U.S. restaurants. *Cornell Hospitality Quarterly*, 58,190-202. doi:10.1177/1938965516650032
- Brutus, S., Aguinis, H., & Wassmer, U. (2012). Self-reported limitations and future directions in scholarly reports: Analysis and recommendations. *Journal of Management*, *39*, 48-75. doi:10.1177/0149206312455245
- Burton, J. P. (2015). The role of job embeddedness in the relationship between bullying and aggression. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 24, 518-529. doi:10.1080/1359432X.2014.944169
- Bush, T. (2017). Understanding instructional leadership. *Educational Management Administration & Leadership*, 43, 487-489. doi:10.1177/1741143215577035

- Buzeti, J., Klun, M., & Stare, J. (2016). Evaluation of measures to reduce employee turnover in Slovenian organizations. *E&M Ekonomie a Management*, *19*, 121-131. doi:10.15240/tul/001/2016-1-009
- Buzeti, J., Klun, M., & Stare, J. (2016). Evaluation of measures to reduce employee turnover in Slovenian organizations. E+M Ekonomie a Management, 1, 121-131. doi:10.15240/tul/001/2016-1-009
- Cahill, K. E., McNamara, T. K., Pitt-Catsouphes, M., & Valcour, M. (2015). Linking shifts in the national economy with changes in job satisfaction, employee engagement, and work life balance. *Journal of Behavioral and Experimental Economics*, 56, 40-54.
 Doi:10.1016/j.socec.2015.03.002
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21, 811. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr
- Castleberry, A. (2014). NVivo 10 [Software program]. Version 10. QSR International, 2012.

 *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education, 78, 25-26. doi:10.5688/ajpe78125
- Cesario, F., & Chambel, M. J. (2017). Linking organizational commitment and work engagement to employee performance. *Knowledge and Process Management*, 24, 152-158. doi:10.1002/kpm.1542
- Charlier, S. D., Guay, R. P., & Zimmerman, R. D. (2016). Plugged in or disconnected? A model of the effects of technological factors on employee job embeddedness. *Human Resource Management*, 55, 109-126. doi:10.1002/hrm.21716

- Chhabra, B. (2015). Person-job fit: Mediating role of job satisfaction & organizational commitment. *Indian Journal of Industrial Relations*, 50, 638-652. Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/journal/indijindurela
- Chib, S. (2016). Study on organizational commitment and workplace empowerment as predictors of organization citizenship behaviour. *Scholedge International Journal of Management & Development*, 3, 63-73. doi:10.19085/journal. sijmd030301
- Cloutier, O., Felusiak, L., Hill, C., & Pemberton-Jones, E. (2015). The importance of developing strategies for employee retention. *Journal of Leadership Accountability and Ethics*, 12, 119-129. Retrieved from http://www.na-businesspress.com/jlaeopen.html
- Cohen, J. D. (2006). The aging nursing workforce: How to retain experienced nurses. *Ache Graduate Essay*, *54*, 233–245 doi:10.1108/13620430710773745
- Connelly, L. M. (2013). Limitation section. *Medsurg Nursing*, 22, 325-325. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Connelly, L. M. (2013). Limitation section. *Medsurg Nursing*, 22, 325-325. Retrieved from http://www.medsurgnursing.net/cgi-bin/WebObjects/MSNJournal.woa
- Croma, E., Shaw, J., & Baillie, A. (2016). Costs and returns on training investment for empirically supported psychological interventions. *Australian Health Review*. 2017;4182-88. doi:10.1071/AH15129
- Crome E, Shaw J, Baillie A. Costs and returns on training investment for empirically supported psychological interventions. *Aust Health Rev.* 2017;4182-88. doi:10.1071/AH15129

- Cyrus, J., Glymour, M. M., & Avendano, M. (2015). Health effects of unemployment benefit program generosity. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, 317-323. doi:10.1093/aje/kwu106
- Gandy, D. L. (2015). Small business strategies for company profitability and sustainability (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 3700959)
- Damij, N., Levnajić, Z., Skrt, V. R., & Suklan, J. (2015). What motivates us for work? Intricate web of factors beyond money and prestige. *PloS One*, *10*, 3-7 doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0132641
- Darrat, M. A., Amyx, D. A., & Bennett, R. J. (2017). Examining the impact of job embeddedness on salesperson deviance: The moderating role of job satisfaction. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 63, 158-166. doi:10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.10.012
- Daskin, M., & Tezer, M. (2012). Organizational politics and turnover: An empirical research from hospitality industry. *TOURISM-An International Interdisciplinary Journal*, 60, 273-291. doi:10.2224/sbp.2009.37.2.175
- Deery, M., & Jago, L. (2015). Revisiting talent management, work-life balance, and retention strategies. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 27, 453-472. doi:10.1108/IJCHM-12-2013-053
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2008). *The landscape of qualitative research*. Los Angeles, CA: Sage Publications.
- De Vito, L., Brown, A., Bannister, B., Cianci, M., & Mujtaba, B. G. (2018). Employee motivation based on the hierarchy of needs, expectancy and the two-factor theories

- applied with higher education employees. International Journal of Advances in Management, Economics and Entrepreneurship (IJAMEE), *3*, 20-32. Retrieved from http://ijamee.info
- Draper, A., & Swift, J. A. (2011). Qualitative research in nutrition and dietetics: Data collection issues. *Journal of Human Nutrition & Dietetics*, 24, 3-12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2010. 01117.x
- D'Souza, J., & Gurin, M. (2016). The universal significance of Maslow's concept of self-actualization. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, 44, 210. doi:10.1037/hum0000027
- Dubey, R., Gunasekaran, A., Altay, N., Childe, S. J., & Papadopoulos, T. (2016). Understanding employee turnover in humanitarian organizations. *Industrial and Commercial Training*, 48, 208-214. doi:10.1108/ict-10-2015-0067
- Ejimabo, N. O. (2015). The effective research process: Unlocking the advantages of ethnographic strategies in the qualitative research methods. *European Scientific Journal*, 11, 356-383. doi:10.4172/2169-026X.1000138
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014). Qualitative content analysis a focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open*, 4, 1-10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43, 13-35. doi:10.1163/156916212X63294

- Erkutlu, H., & Chafra, J. (2017). Authentic leadership and organizational job embeddedness in higher education. *Hacettepe University Journal of Education*, 32, 413-426. doi:10.16986/HUJE.2016018528
- Fareed, K., & Jan, F. A. (2016). Cross-cultural validation test of Herzberg's two factor theory: An analysis of bank officers working in Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Journal of Managerial Sciences*, 10, 285-300. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0011273
- Ferreira, L., & Almeida, C. (2015). Employee turnover and organizational performance: A study of the Brazilian retail sector. *Brazilian Business Review*, 12, 27-56. doi:10.15728/bbr.2015.12.4.2
- Ferreira, L., & Almeida, C. (2015). Employee turnover and organizational performance: A study of the Brazilian retail sector. *Brazilian Business Review*, 12, 27-56. doi:10.15728/bbr.2015.12.4.2
- Frels, R. K., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2013). Administering quantitative instruments with qualitative interviews: A mixed research approach. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 91, 184-194. doi:10.1002/j.1556-6676.2013.00085.x
- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20, 1408-1416. doi:10.3390/safety4030034
- Gringeri, C., Barusch, A., & Cambron, C. (2013). Examining foundations of qualitative research:

 A review of social work dissertations, 2008-2010. *Journal of Social Work Education*, 49, 760-773. doi:10.1080/10437797.2013.812910

- Gatling, A., Kim, J., & Milliman, J. (2016). The relationship between workplace spirituality and hospitality supervisors work attitudes. *International Journal of Contemporary Hospitality Management*, 28, 471-489. doi:10.1108/ijchm-08-2014-0404
- George, C. (2015). Retaining professional workers: What makes them stay? *Employee Relations*, 37, 102-121. doi:10.1108/ER-10-2013-015
- Ghosh, D., & Gurunathan, L. (2015). Do commitment based human resource practices influence job embeddedness and intention to quit? *IIMB Management Review*, 27, 240-251. doi:10.1016/j.iimb.2015.09.003
- Gialuisi, O., & Coetzer, A. (2013). An exploratory investigation into voluntary employee turnover and retention in small businesses, *Small Enterprise Research*, 20, 55-67. doi:10.5172/ser.2013.20.1.55
- Gibbons, L. (2015). Pharmacology case studies for nurse prescribers. *Emergency Nurse*, *5*, 12. Retrieved from http://journals.rcni.com/journal/en
- Gibson, S., Benson, O., & Brand, S. L. (2013). Talking about suicide: Confidentiality and anonymity in qualitative research. *Nursing Ethics*, 20, 18-29. doi:10.1177/0969733012452684
- Gigliotti, R. A., & Ruben, B. D. (2017). Preparing higher education leaders: A conceptual, strategic, and operational approach. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *16*, 96-114. doi:10.12806/v16/i1/t1
- Gill, M. J. (2014). The possibilities of phenomenology for organizational research.

 Organizational Research Methods, 17, 118-137. doi:10.1177/1094428113518348

- Gouviea, V. V., Milfont, T. L., & Guerra, V. M. (2014). Functional theory of human values:
 Testing its content and structure hypotheses. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 60, 41-47. doi:10.1016/j.paid.2013.12.012
- Gringeri, C., Barusch, A., & Cambron, C. (2013). Examining foundations of qualitative research:

 A review of social work dissertations, 2008 to 2010. *Journal of Social Work Education*,

 49, 760-773. doi:10.1080/10437797.2013.812910
- Guion, L., Diehl, D., & McDonald, D. (2011). Triangulation: Establishing the validity of qualitative studies. *University of Florida Institute of Food and Agricultural Sciences*Extension, Publication FCS6014. Retrieved from http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu
- Halasagi.S.& Jamuni A, (2018). A study on job satisfaction of employees in organized retail special reference to Belgavi City. *CLEAR International Journal of Research in Commerce & Management*, 9, 11-12. doi:10.1080/09593960903109519
- Haines III, V. Y., & St-Onge, S. (2015). Performance management effectiveness: Practices or context? The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 23, 1158-1175. doi:10.1080/09585192.2011.561230
- Hamid, T., Reihaneh, M., & Siroos, Z. K. (2016). The effect on turnover intention on empowering employees according to mediate the interoperability of PNU Fars Province Employees. *The Social Sciences*, 1, 882-889. doi:10.3922016.882889
- Harrison, S., & Gordon, P. A. (2014). Misconceptions of employee turnover: Evidence-based information for the retail grocery industry. *Journal of Business & Economics Research*, 12, 145-151. doi:10.19030/jber.v12i2.8528

- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member checking: A dialogic approach to the research interview.
 International Journal of Research & Method in Education, 38, 23-38.
 doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hathaway, K. C. (2013). Job openings continue to grow in 2012, hires and separations less so. *Monthly Labor Review*, *136*, 17-35. Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov/mlr
- Hayward, D., Bungay, V., Wolff, A. C., & MacDonald, V. (2016). A qualitative study of experienced nurses voluntary turnover: Learning from their perspectives. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 25, 1336-1345. doi:10.1111/jocn.13210
- Healy, K. (2016). A theory of human motivation by Abraham H. Maslow (1942)—reflection.

 Retrieved from https://www.ripublication.com/gjmbs_spl/gjmbsv3n10_03.pdf
- Henderson, A. K. (2014). Jesus didn't teach us to juggle: Religious involvement, work family conflict, and life satisfaction among African Americans. *Journal of Family Issues*, *37*, 1558-1584. doi:10.1177/0192513X14561520
- Heritage, B., Gilbert, J. M., & Roberts, L. D. (2016). Job embeddedness demonstrates incremental validity when predicting turnover intentions for Australian university employees. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, 582. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2016.00582
- Herzberg, F. (1959). The motivation to work. New York, NY: Wiley.
- Herzberg, F. (1974). Motivation-hygiene profiles: Pinpointing what ails the organization.

 Organizational Dynamics, 3, 18-29. doi:10.1016/0090-2616(74)90007-2
- Herzberg, F., Mausner, B., & Snyderman, B. (1959). *The motivation to work*. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction. Retrieved from www..gov/opub/mlr/2012/01/art5full.pdf

- Humphry, S. M., & Heldsinger, S. A. (2014). Common structural design features of rubrics may represent a threat to validity. *Educational Researcher*, *43*, 253-263. doi:10.3102/0013189X14542154
- Hur, Y. (2013). Turnover, voluntary turnover, and organizational performance: Evidence from municipal police departments. *Public Administration Quarterly*, 37, 3-35. Retrieved from http://paq.spaef.org/
- Hurley, R. F. (2015). An exploratory study of the effect of employee turnover on customer satisfaction. In E. Wilson & J. Hair (Eds.), *Proceedings of the 1997 Academy of Marketing Science (AMS) Annual Conference* (pp. 319-320). Baton Rouge, LA: Springer International.
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health & Wellbeing*, 7, 1283-1294. doi:10.3402/how.v9.23606
- Ilyushin, L. S., & Azbel, A. A. (2017). The modern Russian teacher: Studying awareness with the use of the semi-structured interview. *Psychology in Russia: State of the Art, 10*, 49-66. doi:10.11621/pir.2017.0104
- Ingham-Broomfield, R. (2014). A nurses' guide to quantitative research. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 32, 32-38. Retrieved from http://www.ajan.com.au
- Islam, M. Z., Hasan, I., & Rahman, M. H. (2015). Factors affecting knowledge transfer in public organization employees, *Asian Social Science*, *11*, 223-233. Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/ass

- Issa Eid, M. T. (2016). What do people want from their jobs? A dual factor analysis based on gender differences. *Journal of Social & Economic Statistics*, 5, 42-55. Retrieved from http://www.jses.ase.ro/
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews:

 Tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 17(42),

 1-10. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- James, L., & Mathew, L. (2012). Employee retention strategies: IT Industry. *SCMS Journal of Indian Management*, *9*, 79-87. Retrieved from http://www.scmsgroup.org/scmsjim/
- Jang, J., & Kandampully, J. (2017). Reducing employee turnover intention through servant leadership in the restaurant context: A mediation study of affective organizational commitment. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Administration*, 2017, 1-17. doi:10.1080/15256480.2017.1305310
- Jehanzeb, K., Hamid, A. B. A., & Rasheed, A. (2015). What is the role of training and job satisfaction on turnover intentions? *International Business Research*, 8, 9-13. doi:10.5539/ibr. v8n3p208
- Kalidass, A., & Bahron, A. (2015). The relationship between perceived supervisor support, perceived organizational support, organizational commitment, and employee turnover intention. *International Journal of Business Administration*, 6, 82-89. doi:10.5430/ijba. v6n5p82
- Kam, C., & Meyer, J. P. (2015). How careless responding and acquiescence response bias can influence construct dimensionality the case of job satisfaction. *Organizational Research Methods*, 18, 512-541. doi:10.1177/1094428115571894

- Kamalzaman, N., Zulkeflee, N. Z., Hamid, H. A., Sahari, N., & Halim, F. N. A. (2015).
 Exploring the factors of high turnover in retail industry in Negeri Sembilan. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, 31, 896-902. doi:10.1016/s2212-567101187-9
- Karatepe, O. M. (2016). Does job embeddedness mediate the effects of coworker and family support on creative performance? An empirical study in the hotel industry. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality and Tourism*, 15, 119-132. doi:10.1080/15332845.2016.1084852
- Katsikea, E., Theodosiou, M., & Morgan, R. E. (2015). Why people quit: Explaining employee turnover intentions among export sales managers. *International Business Review*, 24, 367-379. doi:10.1016/j.ibusrev.2014.08.009
- Kaufman, H. L., Butterfield, L. H., Coulie, P. G., Demaria, S., Ferris, R. L., Galon, J., & Marincola, F. M. (2016). Society for immunotherapy of cancer (SITC) statement on the proposed changes to the common rule. *Journal for Immuno Therapy of Cancer*, 4, 105. doi:10:1186/s40425-016-0142-0
- Keiningham, T. L., Aksoy, L., Daly, R. M., Perrier, K., & Solom, A. (2006). Reexamining the link between employee satisfaction and store performance in a retail environment. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 17, 51-57. doi:10.1177/1938965510363783
- Kiazad, K., Holtom, B. C., Hom, P. W., & Newman, A. (2015). Job embeddedness: A multifoci theoretical extension. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 100, 641-659. doi:10.1037/a0038919

- Kim, J. (2015). What increases public employees turnover intentions. *Public Personnel Management*, 44, 496-519. doi:10.1177/0091026015604447
- Kim, W., & Hyun, Y. S. (2017). The impact of personal resources on turnover intention.

 European Journal of Training and Development, 41, 705-721. doi:10.1108/EJTD-05-2017-0048
- Kloutsiniotis, P. V., & Mihail, D. M. (2017). Linking innovative human resource practices, employee attitudes, and intention to leave in healthcare services. *Employee Relations*, 39(1), 34-53. doi:10.1108/ER-11-2015-0205
- Knowles, E. C. (2015). Marketing strategies to increase profits from retailing fair trade coffee.
 Journal of International Consumer Marketing, 27, 318-327.
 doi:10.1080/08961530.2015.1022920
- Ko, H. J., & Kim, J. (2016). Relationships among nursing work environment, job embeddedness, and turnover intention in nurses. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 22, 279-291. doi:10.11111/jkana.2016.22.3.279
- Kose, H., Argan, M., & Cimen, I. (2015). The dimensions of superstitious beliefs and behaviors:

 A descriptive quantitative study on soccer fans in Turkey. *International Journal of Global Business*, 8, 27-33. Retrieved from http://ijbr-journal.org/IJBR-JOURNAL/Default.aspx
- Kossivi, B., Xu, M., & Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on determining factors of employee retention.

 Open Journal of Social Sciences, 04, 261-268. doi:10.4236/jss.2016.45029
- Kossivi, B., Xu, M., & Kalgora, B. (2016). Study on determining factors of employee retention.

 Open Journal of Social Sciences, 4, 261-268. doi: 10.4236/jss.2016.45029

- Kushta, R. (2017). Application of motivation-hygiene theory among workers of social care institutions. CBU International Conference Proceedings, 5, 693-695.
 doi:10.12955/cbup.v5.1009
- Labrague, L. J., Gloe, D. S., McEnroe-Petitte, D. M., Tsaras, K., & Colet, P. C. (2018). Factors influencing turnover intention among registered nurses in Samar Philippines. *Applied Nursing Research*, *39*, 200-200-206. doi:10.1016/j.apnr.2018.03.006
- Labrague, L. J., McEnroe-Petitte, D. M., Tsaras, K., Cruz, J. P., Colet, P. C., & Gloe, D. S. (2018). Organizational commitment and turnover intention among rural nurses in the Philippines: Implications for nursing management. *International journal of nursing sciences*, *5*, 403–408. doi:10.1016/j.ijnss.2018.09.001
- Laursen, K. K. (2013). Leadership strategies and initiatives for combating Medicaid fraud and abuse (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 3587532)
- Lee, H. S., & Yom, Y. H. (2015). Role of self-leadership and social support in the relationship between job embeddedness and job performance among general hospital nurses. *Journal of Korean Academy of Nursing Administration*, 21, 375-386.

 doi:10.1111/jkama.2015.21.4.354
- Lee, T. W., Mitchell, T. R., Sablynski, C. J., Burton, J. P., & Holtom, B. C. (2004). The effects of job embeddedness on organizational citizenship, job performance, volitional absences, and voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 47, 711-722. doi:10.2307/20159613

- Lee, Y., & Mao, P. (2015). Survivors of organizational change: A resource perspective. *Business* and *Management Studies*, 1, 1-5. doi:10.11114/bms.v1i2.692
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research. *Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care*, *4*, 32-34. doi:10.4103/2249-4863.161306
- Lin, C. P., Tsai, Y. H., & Mahatma, F. (2017). Understanding turnover intention in cross-country business management. *Personnel Review*, 46, 1717-1737. doi:10.1108/PR.07-2016-0176
- Lin, I. Y., & Kwantes, C. T. (2015). Potential job facilitation benefits of "water cooler" conversations: The importance of social interactions in the workplace. *The Journal of Psychology*, 149, 239-262. doi:10.1080/08961530.2015.1022920
- Lips-Wiersma, M., & Mills, A. J. (2014). Understanding the basic assumptions about human nature in workplace spirituality: Beyond the critical versus positive divide. *Journal of Management Inquiry*, 23, 148-161. doi:10.1177/1056492613501227
- Liu, B., Zhang, X., Du, L., & Hu, Q. (2015). Validating the construct of public service motivation in for-profit organizations: A preliminary study. *Public Management Review*, 17(2), 262-287. doi:10.1080/14719037.2013.798023
- Liu, Y., Jing, Y., & Gao, M. (2015). Transformational leadership: From the perspective of neurological leadership. *Open Journal of Leadership*, 4, 143. doi:10.4236/ojl.2015.44013
- Lockard, C. B., & Wolf, M. (2012). Occupational employment projections to 2020. *Monthly Labor Review*, 135, 84-108. doi:10.12691/ajssm4 |

- Loliwe, T. (2016). Voluntary employee reporting by the wholesale and retail companies listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. *South African Journal of Accounting Research*, *30*, 139-171. doi:10.1080/10291954.2015.1099216
- Long, C., Ajafbe, M., & Kowang, T. (2014). Addressing the issues on employee's turnover intention in the perspective of HRM practices in SME. *Procedia–Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 129, 99-104. doi:10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.653
- Lu, X., Tu, Y., Li, Y., & Ho, C. C. (2016). Affective and normative forces between HCHRM and turnover intention in China. *Employee Relations*, 38, 741-754. doi:10.1108/er-09-2015-0181
- Lucero, J., Wallerstein, N., Duran, B., Alegria, M., Greene-Moton, E., Israel, B., & Schulz, A. (2016). Development of a mixed methods investigation of process and outcomes of community-based participatory research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1177/1558689816633309
- Maertz, C. P., Jr., & Boyar, S. L. (2012). Theory-driven development of a comprehensive turnover-attachment motive survey. *Human Resource Management*, 51(1), 71-98. doi:10.1002/hrm.20464
- Mahzan, N., & Abidin, A. Z. (2017). Examining navigators job satisfaction in Royal Malaysian

 Air Force through the lenses of Herzbergs motivation-hygiene theory, *Journal of Economics, Business, and Management, 3,* 195-199. doi:10.7763/joebm.2015.v3.281
- Marasi, S., Cox, S., & Bennett, R. (2016). Job embeddedness: Is it always a good thing? *Journal of Managerial Psychology*, 31, 141-153. doi:10.1108/JMP-05-2013-0150

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Martinus, K., & Hedgcock, D. (2015). The methodological challenge of cross-national qualitative research: Comparative case study interviews in Australia and Japan. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 15, 373-386. doi:10.1108/qrj-07-2013-0046
- Maskara, A. (2014). A process framework for managing quality of service in private cloud (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses. (UMI No. 2376)
- Maslow, A. H. (1943). A theory of human motivation. *Psychological Review*, *50*, 370-396. doi:10.1037/h0054346
- Mawanza, W. (2017). The effects of stress on employee productivity: A perspective of Zimbabwe's socio-economic dynamics of 2016. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 9, 22-27. doi:10.22610/jebs.v9i2.1647
- Mayr, M. L. (2017). Transformational leadership and volunteer firefighter engagement. *Nonprofit Management and Leadership*, 28, 259-270. doi:10.1002/nml.21279
- McCusker, K., & Gunaydin, S. (2015). Research using qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods and choice based on the research. *Perfusion*, *30*, 537-542. doi:10.1177/0267659114559116
- McManus, J., & Mosca, J. (2015). Strategies to build trust and improve employee engagement.

 *International Journal of Management & Information Systems, 19, 37-42.

 doi:10.13007/466

- Mehrnoosh, M., & Jouzaryan, F. (2016). Examining the effects of inflation and unemployment on economic growth. *Procedia Economics and Finance*, *36*, 381-389. doi:10.1016/S2212-5671(16)30050-8
- Mitchell, K. R., & Wellings, K. (2013). Measuring sexual function in community surveys:

 Development of a conceptual framework. *Journal of Sex Research*, 50, 17-28.

 doi:10.1080/00224499.2011.621038
- Mitchell, M., & Zatzick, C. D. (2015) Skill underutilization and collective turnover in a professional service firm. *Journal of Management Development*, *34*, 787-802. doi:10.1108/JMD-09-2013-011
- Mitchell, T. R., Holtom, B. C., Lee, T. W., Sablynski, C. J., & Erez, M. (2001). Why people stay:

 Using job embeddedness to predict voluntary turnover. *Academy of Management Journal*, 44, 1102-1121. doi:10.2307/3069391
- Moon, K., Brewer, T. D., Januchowski-Hartley, S. R., Adams, V. M., & Blackman, D. A. (2016).
 A guideline to improve qualitative social science publishing in ecology and conservation journals. *Ecology and Society*, 21, 17. doi:10.5751/ES-08663-210317
- Moradi, M. (2014). Managers succession planning for human capital development. *Advances in Environmental Biology*, 8, 1776-1785. Retrieved from http://www.aensiweb.com/AEB/
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Data were saturated. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 587-588. doi:10.1177/1049732315576699
- Morse, J. M., & Coulehan, J. (2015). Maintaining confidentiality in qualitative publications. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 151-152. doi:10.1177/1049732314563489

- Muqadas, F., Rehman, C. A., & Aslam, U. (2017). Organizational justice and employee's job dissatisfaction: A moderating role of psychological empowerment. *Pakistan Business Review*, 18, 848-864. doi:10.1108/VJIKMS-06-2016-0036
- Naim, M. F., & Lenka, U. (2017). How does mentoring contribute to Gen Y employees intention to stay? An Indian perspective. *Europe's Journal of Psychology, 13*, 314-335. doi:10.5964/ejop. v13i2.1304
- Narayanan, A. (2016). Talent management and employee retention: Implications of job embeddedness. *Journal of Strategic Human Resource Management*, *5*, 34-40. doi:10.1177/1534484318812159
- National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research*. Washington, DC: Department of Health and Human Services. Retrieved from http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/regulations-and-policy/belmont-report/index.html
- Nelissen, J., Forrier, A., & Verbruggen, M. (2016). Employee development and voluntary turnover: Testing the employability paradox. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 27, 152-168. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12136
- Nicholas, A., Mensah, A. O., & Owusu, N. O. (2016). Stay or leave? Using job embeddedness to explain turn over intention among hotel staff in Ghana. *Journal of Management*

- Research, 8(3), 123-139. Retrieved from http://www.macrothink.org/journal/index.php/jmr
- Nyhan, B. (2015). Increasing the credibility of political science research: A proposal for journal reforms. *Political Science & Politics*, 48, 78-83. doi:10.1017/s1049096515000463
- Oliver, R. L. (2014). *Satisfaction: A behavioral perspective on the consumer* (2nd ed.). New York, NY: Routledge.
- Opsal, T., Wolgemuth, J., Cross, J., Kaanta, T., Dickmann, E., Colomer, S., & Erdil-Moody, Z. (2015). There are no known benefit considering the risk/benefit ratio of qualitative research. *Qualitative Health Research*, 1-4. doi:10.1177/1049732315580109
- Overgaard, S. (2015). How to do things with brackets: The epoche explained. *Continental Philosophy Review*, 43, 1-17. doi:10.1007/s11007-015-9322-8
- Paladan, N. N. (2015) Transformational leadership: The emerging leadership style of successful entrepreneurs. *Journal of Literature and Art Studies*, 5, 64-72. doi:10.17265/2159-5836/2015.01.008
- Parasız, Ö., Koç, M., Ilgar, E., & Şahin, M. Y. (2017). Relationship between organizational commitment and turnover intentions of academics. *Journal of Human Sciences*, *14*, 4065-4076. doi:10.14687/jhs.v14i4.5076
- Patel, T., & Hamlin, R. (2015). Toward a unified framework of perceived negative leader behaviors insights from French and British educational sectors. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 12(1), 1-26. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2909-5

- Peachey, J. W., Burton, L. J., & Wells, J. E. (2014). Examining the influence of transformational leadership, organizational commitment, job embeddedness, and job search behaviors on turnover intentions in intercollegiate athletics. *Leadership & Organizational Development Journal*, 35, 740-755. doi:10.1108/LODJ-10-2012-0128
- Pearlman, D. M., & Schaffer, J. D. (2013). Labor issues within the hospitality and tourism industry: A study of Louisianas attempted solutions. *Journal of Human Resources in Hospitality & Tourism*, 12, 217-242. doi:10.1080/15332845.2013.769131
- Pentareddy, S., & Suganthi, L. (2015). Building affective commitment through job characteristics, leadership, and empowerment. *Journal of Management & Organization*,. 21, 307-320 doi:10.1017/jmo.2014.93
- Perez, J., & Mirabella, J. (2013). The relationship between leadership practices and restaurant employee turnover. *International Journal of Accounting Information Science & Leadership*, 6, 40-47. Retrieved from http://www.intellectbase.org/IJAISL.php
- Prouska, R., Psychogios, A.G. and Rexhepi, Y. (2016), "Rewarding employees in turbulent economies for improved organisational performance: Exploring SMEs in the South-Eastern European region", *Personnel Review*, 45, 1259-1280. doi.org/10.1108/PR-
- Pindek, S., Kessler, S. R., & Spector, P. E. (2017). A quantitative and qualitative review of what meta-analyses have contributed to our understanding of human resource management.

 *Human Resource Management Review, 27, 26-38. doi:10.1016/j.hrmr.2016.09.003
- Pirgaip, B., & Tasdemir, A. (2017). Derivative use of Turkish investment funds during the 2008-09 financial crisis. *Asian Economic and Financial Review*, 7, 1-14. doi:10.18488/journal.aefr/20177

- Pohler, D., & Schmidt, J. A. (2015). Does pay-for-performance strain the employment relationship? The effect of manager bonus eligibility on nonmanagement employee turnover. *Personnel Psychology*, 20, 1-35. doi:10.1111/peps.12106
- Ponterotto, J. G. (2014). Best practices in psychobiographical research. *Qualitative Psychology*, 1, 77-90. doi:10.1037/qup0000005
- Porter, C. M., Woo, S. E., & Campion, M. A. (2016). Internal and external networking differentially predict turnover through job embeddedness and job offers. *Personnel Psychology*, *3*, 635-672. doi:10.1111/peps.12121
- Prouska, R., Psychogios, A. G., & Rexhepi, Y. (2016). Rewarding employees in turbulent economies for improved organizational performance. *Personnel Review*, 45, 1259-1280. doi:10.1108/pr-02-2015-0024
- Pryce, A. C. (2016). Strategies to reduce employee turnover in small retail businesses (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses database. (UMI No. 1845002702)
- Qazi, T. F., Khalid, A., & Shafique, M. (2015). Contemplating employee retention through multidimensional assessment of turnover intentions. *Pakistan Journal of Commerce and Social Sciences*, 9, 598-613. Retrieved from http://jespk.net/index.php
- Ratna, R., & Chawla, S. (2012). Key factors of retention and retention strategies in telecom sector. *Global Management Review*, 6, 35-46. Retrieved from http://www.sonamgmt.org/gmr.html
- Rawashdeh, A., Al-saraireh, A., & Obeidat, G. (2015). Does organizational culture matter for job satisfaction in Jordanian private aviation companies? *International Journal of*

- *Information, Business and Management*, 7, 107-115. Retrieved from http://ijibm.elitehall.com/
- Reitz, O. E., & Anderson, M. A. (2011). An overview of job embeddedness. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 27, 320-327. doi:10:1016/j-profnurs.2011.04.004
- Roberts, K. H., Walter, G. A., & Miles, R. E. (2008). A factor-analytic study of job satisfaction

 N-item-S designed to measure Maslow need categories. *Personnel Psychology*, 24, 205220. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1111/j.17446570.tb02472.x
- Roberts, T. (2013). Understanding the research methodology of interpretative phenomenological analysis. *British Journal of Midwifery*, *21*, 215-218. doi:10.12968/bjom.2013.21.3.215
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11, 25-41. doi:10.1080/14780
- Roche, M. A., Duffield, C. M., Homer, C., Buchan, J., & Dimitrelis, S. (2015). The rate and cost of nurse turnover in Australia. *Collegian*, 22, 353-358. doi:10.1016/j.colegn.2014.05.002
- Ross, C., Mahal, K., Chinnapen, Y., Kolar, M., & Woodman, K. (2014). Evaluation of nursing students work experience through the use of reflective journals. *Mental Health Practice*, 17, 21-27. doi:10.7748/mhp2014.03.17.6.21. e823
- Rowe, F. (2014). What literature review is not: Diversity, boundaries, and recommendations. *European Journal of Information Systems*, 23, 241-255. doi:10.1057/ejis.2014.7
- Rukh, L., Choudhary, M. A., & Abbasi, S. A. (2015). Analysis of factors affecting employee satisfaction: A case study from Pakistan. *Work*, 52, 137-152. doi:10.3233/WOR-152039

- Ruys, J. (2013). Leadership behaviors and workplace factors millennial workers find important for job satisfaction and retention (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ProQuest Dissertations & Theses Global. (UMI No. 147647806 143)
- Šalkovska, J., & Ogsta, E. (2014). Quantitative and qualitative measurement methods of companies' marketing efficiency. *Management of Organizations: Systematic Research*, 70, 91-105. doi:10.7220/MOSR.1392-1142.2014.70.7
- Sankar, M. (2015). Impact of hygiene factors on employee retention: Experimental study on paper industry. *Indian Journal of Management Science*, *5*, 58-61. Retrieved from http://www.scholarshub.net/ijms/
- Santhanam, N., Kamalanabhan, T. J., Dyaram, L., & Ziegler, H. (2015). Examining the moderating effects of organizational identification between human resource practices and employee turnover intentions in Indian hospitality industry. *GSTF Journal on Business Review*, 4, 11-19. doi:10.5176/2010-4804_4.1.349
- Schaffner, E., Schiefele, U., & Ulferts, H. (2013). Reading amount as a mediator of the effects of intrinsic and extrinsic reading motivation on reading comprehension. *Reading Research Quarterly*, 48, 369-385. doi:10.1002/rrq.52
- Schmitt, A., Hartog, D., & Belschak, D. N. (2015). Is outcome responsibility at work emotionally exhausting? Investigating employee proactivity as a moderator. *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, 20, 491. doi:10.1037/a0039011
- Selden, S., Schimmoeller, L., & Thompson, R. (2013). The influence of high-performance work systems on voluntary turnover of new hire in the U.S. state governments. *Personnel Review*, 42, 300-323. doi:10.1108/00483481311320426

- Şerban, A. C., & Aceleanu, M. I. (2015). Current demographic trends: A new challenge for the labour market. *Theoretical and Applied Economics*, 22, 309-320. Retrieved from http://www.ectap.ro
- Setia, M. (2016). Methodology series module 5: Sampling strategies. *Indian Journal of Dermatology*, 61, 505–509. doi:10.4103/0019-5154.190118
- Shannon-Baker, P. (2015). Making paradigms meaningful in mixed methods research. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, 10, 319-334. doi:10.1177/155868981557586
- Sheikh Ahmed, T. M., Oyagi, B., & Tirimba, O. I. (2015). Assessment of non-financial motivation on employee productivity: Case of ministry of finance headquarters in Hargeisa Somaliland. *International Journal of Business Management & Economic Research*, 6, 400-416. Retrieved from http://www.ijbmer.com/
- Shin, J., Seo, M., Shapiro, D. L., & Taylor, M. S. (2015). Maintaining employees commitment to organizational change. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, 51, 501-528. doi:10.1177/0021886315603123
- Siahaan, E. (2017). Antecedents of employee performance and the influence on employee job satisfaction in banking service sector in Indonesia. *Banks and Bank Systems*, *12*, 75-89. doi:10.21511/bbs.12(4).2017.07
- Siegle, D., Rubenstein, L. D., & Mitchell, M. S. (2014). Honors students perceptions of their high school experiences: The influence of teachers on student motivation. *Gifted Child Quarterly*, 58, 35-50. doi:10.1177/0016986213513496
- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). *Dissertation and scholarly research: Recipes for success*.

 Seattle, WA: Dissertation Success, LLC.

- Singh, A. S. (2014). Conducting case study research in non-profit organizations. *Qualitative*Market Research: An International Journal, 17, 77-84. doi:101108/EMR-04-2013-0024
- Singh, R. (2014). Predicting organizational embeddedness through employee personality and their community embeddedness. *International Journal of Human Resources Development and Management*, 16, 176-195. doi:10.1504/IJHRDM.2016.078202
- Siyanbola, T. O., & Gilman, M. W. (2017). Extent of employee turnover in Nigerian SMEs. *Employee Relations*, 39, 967-985. doi:10.1108/er-02-2016-004
- Smit, B. (2017). A narrative inquiry into rural school leadership in South Africa. *Qualitative**Research in Education, 6(1), 1-21. Retrieved from http://qre.hipatiapress.com/
- Solaja, M. O., Idowu, E. F., & James, E. A. (2016). Exploring the relationship between leadership communication style, personality trait, and organizational productivity. *Serbian Journal of Management*, 11, 99–117. doi:10.5937/sjm11-8480
- Solaja, O., & Ogunola, A. (2016). Leadership style and multigenerational workforce: A call for workplace agility in Nigerian public organizations. *International Journal of African and Asian Studies*, 21, 46-56. Retrieved from https://iiste.org/Journals/index.php/JAAS
- Soodmand Afshar, H., & Doosti, M. (2016). An investigation into factors contributing to Iranian secondary school English teachers job satisfaction and dissatisfaction. *Research Papers in Education*, *31*, 274-298. doi:10.1080/02671522.2015.1037335
- Spillane, A., Larkin, C., Corcoran, P., Matvienko-Sikar, K., & Arensman, E. (2017). What are the physical and psychological health effects of suicide bereavement on family members?

 Protocol for an observational and interview mixed-methods study in Ireland. *BMJ Open*, 71. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014707

- Spillane, A., Larkin, C., Corcoran, P., Matvienko-Sikar, K., & Arensman, E. (2017). What are the physical and psychological health effects of suicide bereavement on family members?

 Protocol for an observational and interview mixed-methods study in Ireland. *BMJ Open*, 71, 31-46. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-014707
- Stamp, S. S., & Thoren, J. (2016). Turnover: The cost to a practice and how to prevent it.

 *Veterinary Team Brief, 4, 52-55. Retrieved from http://www.veterinaryteambrief.com
- Suri, H. (2013). Toward methodologically inclusive research synthesis: Expanding possibilities.

 New York, NY: Routledge.
- Sweet, S., Pitt-Catsouphes, M., & James, J. B. (2017). Manager attitudes concerning flexible work arrangements: Fixed or changeable? *Community, Work, & Family*, 20, 50-71. doi:10.1080/13668803.2016.1271311
- Tan, T. H., & Waheed, A. (2011). Herzbergs motivation-hygiene theory and job satisfaction in the Malaysian retail sector: The mediating effect of love of money. *Asian Academy of Management Journal*, 16, 73-94. Retrieved from http://web.usm.my/aamj/
- Taneja, S., Sewell, S. S., & Odom, R. Y. (2015) A culture of employee engagement: a strategic perspective for global managers. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 36, 46-56. doi:10.1108/JBS-06-2014-0062
- Taneja, S., Sewell, S., & Odom, R. (2015). A culture of employee engagement: A strategic perspective for global managers. *Journal of Business Strategy*, *36*, 46-56. doi:10.1108//JBS-06-2014-0062

- Tang, C., Liu, Y., Oh, H., & Weitz, B. (2014). Socialization tactics of new retail employees: A pathway to organizational commitment. *Journal of Retailing*, 90, 62-73. doi:10.1016/j.jretai.2013.11.002
- Tanius, E., Pheng, L. S., Kasim, C. M. M., & Yulia, A. (2017). The relationship between communication satisfaction and procedural justice with employee retention. *AGE*, *29*, 421-424. doi:10.1016/j.jbusres.2016.08.017
- Taormina, R. J., & Gao, J. H. (2015). Maslow and the motivation hierarchy:

 Measuring satisfaction of the needs. *The American Journal of Psychology*, *126*, 155-177. doi:10.5406/amerjpsyc.126.2.0155
- Tastan, S. (2014). The impact of employee-organization relationship on individuals behavioral outcomes of task-related performance, contextual performance, and intention to turnover: An evaluation with social exchange theory. *International Journal of Business and Management Studies*, 6, 42-53. Retrieved from http://www.sobiad.org/eJOURNALS/journal_IJBM/index.html
- Teeuw, W. J., Slot, D. E., Susanto, H., Gerdes, V. E., Abbas, F., D Aiuto, F., & Loos, B. G. (2014). Treatment of periodontitis improves the

- atherosclerotic profile: A systematic review and meta- analysis. *Journal of Clinical Periodontology, 41*, 70-79.

 doi:10.1111/jcpe.12171
- Tharenou, P., & Caulfield, N. (2010). Will I stay or will I go? Explaining repatriation by self-initiated expatriates. *Academy of Management Journal*, *53*, doi:10.5465/AMJ.2010.54533183
- Thiranun, P. (2016). Research on motivation model of talented employees between China and Thailand. *Journal of Research in Business*, *Economics, and Management*, 5, 664-669. Retrieved from http://scitecresearch.com/journals/index.php/jrbem/index
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*, 23-41. doi:10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435
- Tims, M., Derks, D., & Bakker, A. B. (2016). Job crafting and its relationships with person-job fit and meaningfulness: A three-wave study. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 92, 44-53. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2015.11.007

- Tuohy, D., Cooney, A., Dowling, M., Murphy, K., & Sixsmith, J. (2013).

 An overview of interpretive phenomenology as a research methodology. *Nurse Researcher*, 2, 17-20.

 doi:10.7748/nr2013.07.20.6.17. e315
- Tziner, A., Rabenu, E., Radomski, R., & Belkin, A. (2015). Work stress and turnover intentions among hospital physicians: The mediating role of burnout and work satisfaction. *Revista De Psicologia Del Trabajo Y De Las Organizaciones*, 31, 207-213. doi:10.1016/j.rpto.2015.05.00
- U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2015). *Retail trade: NAICS 44-45*.
 Retrieved from http://www.bls.gov
- U.S. Census Bureau. (2016). Virginia community profile: Henrico County

 [Data File]. Retrieved from http://www.VirginiaLMI.com
- U.S. Department of Labor. (2015). *Bureau of Labor Statistics, occupational*outlook handbook, 2014-15 edition. Retrieved from

 http://www.bls.gov/ooh/computerand- informationtechnology/home.htm

- Vance, C. D. (2015). Decision-making considerations for mid-career army officers to pursue master's degrees. *Adult Learning*, 26(3), 109-115. doi:10.1177/1045159515583260
- Van Dierendonck, D., Lankester, A., Zmyslona, M., & Rothweiler, H. (2016). Linking HRM practices and institutional setting to collective turnover: An empirical exploitation. *Administrative Sciences* (2076-3387), 6, 1-17. doi:10.330/admsci6040018
- Van De Voorde, K., & Beijer, S. (2014). The role of employee HR attributions in the relationship between high-performance work systems and employee outcomes. *Human Resource Management Journal*, 25, 62-78. doi:10.1111/1748-8583.12062
- Vargas-Hernández, J. G. & Arreola-Enríquez, J. A. (2017). The motivation of collaborators in family micro companies: Cybercafé. *Revista de Administração Mackenzie*, 18(6), 149-176. doi:10.1590/1678-69712017/administração. v18n6p149-176
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Sullivan, Y. W. (2016). Guidelines for conducting mixed-methods research: An extension and illustration.

- Journal of the Association for Information Systems, 17, 435-494.

 Retrieved from http://aisel.aisnet.org/jais/
- Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods, and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10, 69-80. doi:10.536/DRO/DU:30057483
- Walden University. (2015). *IRB application*. Retrieved from http://academicanswers.waldenu.edu/faq/73134
- Wang, X., Wang, L., Zhang, L., Xu, X., Zhang, W., & Xu, Y. (2015).

 Developing an employee turnover risk evaluation model using case-based reasoning. *Information System Frontiers*, 17, 1-8.

 doi:10.1007/s10796-015-9615-9
- Wohlin, C., & Aurum, A. (2015). Towards a decision-making structure for selecting a research design in empirical software engineering.

 Empirical Software Engineering, 20, 1427-1455. doi:10.1007/s10664-014-9319-7

- Woods, K. (2015). Exploring the relationship between employee turnover rate and customer satisfaction levels. *The Exchange*, *4*, 33-43.

 Retrieved from http://theacademicforum.org/journal.html
- Word, J., & Park, S. M. (2015). The new public service? Empirical research on job choice motivation in the nonprofit sector. *Personnel Review*, 44, 91-118. doi:10.1108/pr-07-2012-012
- Yardley, S. J., Watts, K. M., Pearson, J., & Richardson, J. C. (2014). Ethical issues in the reuse of qualitative data perspectives from literature, practice, and participants. *Qualitative Health Research*, 24, 102-113. doi:10.1177/1049732313518373
- Yates, J., & Leggett, T. (2016). Qualitative research: An introduction.

 *Radiologic Technology, 88(2), 225-231. Retrieved from http://www.radiologictechnology
- Yazan, B. (2015). Three approaches to case study methods in education:

 Yin, Merriam, and Stake. *Qualitative Report*, 20(2), 134-152.

 Retrieved from http://www.nova.edu/tqr

- Yeatman, S., Trinitapoli, J., & Hayford, S. (2013). Limitations of clinic-based studies on HIV and fertility preferences. *American Journal of Public Health*, *101*, 5-5. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301333
- Yin, R.K. (2014). *Case study research: Design and methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research: Design and methods* (5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Zarif, T. (2012). Grounded theory method: An overview. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Contemporary Research in Business*, 4, 969-979. Retrieved from http://ijcrb.webs.com
- Zhang, Y. (2016) A review of employee turnover influence factor and countermeasure. *Journal of Human Resource and Sustainability Studies*, 4, 85-91. doi:10.4236/jhrss.2016.42010
- Zhang, Y., LePine, J. A., Buckman, B. R., & Wei, F. (2013). Its not fair. Or is it? The role of justice and leadership in explaining work stressor-job performance relationships. *Academy of Management Journal*, *57*, 675-697. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.1110

Zheng, R., Guo, Q., Dong, F., & Owens, R. G. (2015). Chinese oncology nurses experience on caring for dying patients who are on their final days: A qualitative study. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*, 52, 288-296. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2014.09.009

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Introducing the Interview

Thank you for taking the time to participate in this study. I appreciate the fact that you signed the Informed Consent Form that was given to you. During the process, please feel free to ask me any questions. Take your time to clarify any issue that you feel needs clarification. This interview will take 1 hour, and I will focus primarily on the questions.

Purpose of the Research

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study is to explore strategies retail sector leaders use to decrease employee turnover. The population for this study will consist of five retail sector leaders from retail organizations in the Upstate region of New York. These retail stores' leaders demonstrated successful experience in reducing employee turnover. The findings from this study could contribute to social change by providing retail sector leaders with additional knowledge about how to decrease employee turnover. Decreasing employee turnover could positively benefit retail leaders' financial outcomes and promote financial well-being for families and communities.

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies did you implement to decrease employee turnover in your organization?
- 2. How did you gather the information you used to decrease employee turnover?
- 3. What were some of the critical barriers your organization faced when implementing strategies for decreasing employee turnover?
- 4. How did you address the key barriers to implementing strategies to decrease employee turnover?

- 5. What strategies were not successful in decreasing employee turnover in your organization?
- 6. What strategies were most effective in decreasing employee turnover?
- 7. What other information would you like to share regarding strategies for decreasing employee turnover?

Wrap Up Interview

This concludes the interview process. Thank you again for your participation. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me via e-mail at Mathias.Oni-Eseleh@Waldenu.edu I will be in contact with you shortly regarding a follow-up to this interview. I will provide you with a summary of the interview for your review, to ensure I have recorded your responses appropriately and accurately. Our follow-up conversation will allow you to clarify any information and add any additional information you may consider to be relevant to the interview.

Request Secondary Documents

Before finalizing our meeting today, are you able to produce any documents from your company? Documents that could be useful include, mission and vision statements, employee policy and procedure handbook, training manual, meeting minutes, or any other document pertaining to employee turnover. These documents will be used for secondary data.